
Meeting papers

Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee

Tuesday 12 February 2019 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester





Date Published:4 February 2019     

Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee

Tuesday 12 February 2019 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE Stephen Bace

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Please see note (a) at the end of the agenda.

Stephen Bace

3  PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

To answer any written or oral questions about matters which are 
within the powers and duties of the committee.

The closing date/time for receipt of written questions is 6.00pm on 6 
February 2019   (three clear working days before date of the 
meeting).  Please send questions to the Democratic Services Unit, 
marked for the attention of Stephen Bace (email: 
stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk)
 
An oral question may be asked by a member of the public if notice 
of the question is given by the questioner to Democratic Services at 
least 30 minutes prior to the start of the meeting.

Depending on the nature of the questions asked it may not be 
possible to provide a comprehensive answer at the meeting, in 
which case a written answer will be supplied as soon as reasonably 
possible after the meeting.

Stephen Bace

4  MEMBER QUESTIONS 

To answer any written members’ questions about matters which are 
within the powers and duties of the committee. The closing 

Stephen Bace

mailto:stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

date/time for receipt of written questions is 6.00pm on 6 February 
2019   (three clear working days before date of the meeting).  
Please send questions to the Democratic Services Unit, marked for 
the attention of Stephen Bace (email: 
stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk)

5  MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING - 

TO FOLLOW

Stephen Bace

6  BUSINESS PLAN 2019-22 (Pages 1 - 24)

To present a Business Plan (including the action plan) for 
agreement

Wayne Lewis

7  RESIDUAL WASTE TREATMENT AND WASTE TRANSFER UPDATE 
(Pages 25 - 26)

Update on the construction and mobilisation arrangements for 
Javelin Park. 

Updating on transfer arrangements and directions.

Wayne Lewis

8  TIPPING AWAY POLICY (Pages 27 - 30)

Briefing paper to summarise consultation responses and update on 
the adoption of a policy by GCC.

Andy Pritchard

9  NATIONAL WASTE AND RESOURCES STRATEGY (Pages 31 - 34)

To provide a summary of the main measures included within the 
new national strategy and highlight upcoming public consultations. 

Andy Pritchard

10  2018/21 ACTION PLAN UPDATE (Pages 35 - 44)

Quarterly Monitoring Report

Wayne Lewis

11  MANAGEMENT ACCOUNTS MONITORING REPORT (Pages 45 - 56)

Quarterly monitoring report and draft budget for 2019/20

Louise 
Seabrook

12  QUARTER 3 PERFORMANCE MONITORING (Pages 57 - 62) Andy Pritchard

FOR INFORMATION

Committee meetings in 2018/19: -

12 February 2019

mailto:stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

18 June 2019
8 October 2019
3 December 2019

All meetings start at 10am, and are held in the Cabinet Suite, Shire Hall, Gloucester, GL1 2TG.

Membership –  Cllr Nigel Moor and Cllr Ray Theodoulou Cllr Sue Coakley (Cotswold District 
Council), Cllr Chris Coleman (Cheltenham Borough Council), Cllr Bruce Hogan (Forest of Dean 
District Council), Cllr Jim Mason (Tewkesbury Borough Council), Cllr Chris McFarling (Forest of 
Dean District Council), Cllr Tina Stevenson (Cotswold District Council) and Cllr Mark Williams 
(Tewkesbury Borough Council)

Co-Opted Members - Cllr George Butcher (Stroud District Council), Cllr Richard Cook (Gloucester 
City Council), Cllr Simon Pickering (Stroud District Council) and Cllr Terry Pullen (Gloucester City 
Council)

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Please declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or 
personal interests that you may have relating to specific matters which may be discussed 
at this meeting, by signing the form that will be available in the Cabinet Suite.  Completing 
this list is acceptable as a declaration, but does not, of course, prevent members from 
declaring an interest orally in relation to individual agenda items.  The list will be available 
for public inspection.

Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to make a declaration of interest 
are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer (Jane Burns  01452 328472, email 
jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or 
reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact: Andrea Clarke, Senior Democratic Services Adviser 
:01452 324203/fax: 425850/e-mail: andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

(c) Co-opted Members
Gloucester City and Stroud District Councils may each nominate up to two Co-opted 
Members to attend and participate in the Committee’s meetings. Co-opted Members may 
take a full part in public debate where they are present, but may not vote.  In the event of 
the Committee discussing confidential “exempt” non–public items the general presumption 
is that co-opted members shall leave the meeting, although should a co-opted member 
make a case to stay, this may be waived at the Chairman’s discretion provided no voting 
member raises an objection. Co-opted Members may, in such circumstances, be asked to 
leave the meeting while the Chairman seeks views from Voting Members.

(d) GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
1 Members are asked to sign the attendance list.
2. Substitution of members – Where a substitute member takes the place of a 

committee member who is an executive member of the appointing partner authority 
the substitute member must also be a member of the executive.

3. Quorum - The quorum for a meeting shall be five committee members, which shall 
include at least one member appointed by each of the five different partner 
authorities. No business shall be transacted unless quorum is reached. If quorum is 
not reached within 30 minutes of the start of the meeting, (or if quorum ceases to be 
present during a meeting), the meeting shall be adjourned to the same time and 
venue within five working days of the meeting or to a date determined by the 

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

Chairman.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.



1

Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee

Business Plan
Covering the Period

2019-22

Page 1

Agenda Item 6



2

1. Introduction

This is the seventh business plan of the Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee 
(GJWC) constituted between: Cheltenham Borough Council1, Cotswold District Council, 
Forest of Dean District Council, Gloucestershire County Council and Tewkesbury 
Borough Council. 

The GJWC is a body with delegated powers to oversee and make decisions concerning 
the recycling, waste collection and street cleansing services for four district and 
borough councils and to deliver waste treatment and disposal for the county council. 
The agreed framework for the GJWC is an Inter Authority Agreement (IAA) signed in 
December 2014. Further information on the GJWC is provided in appendix 1.

2. Purpose

The business plan is a requirement under the IAA. It outlines the key priorities and actions for 
the next three years. 

The purpose of this plan is to:
 set out a clear action plan for the 2019/22 period;
 provide a draft budget to support the work of the GJWC; and,
 support decision making by the GJWC, in accordance with the governance and 

budgetary principles within the IAA.

3. Rationale for Joint Working

Over the last two decades, the roles of district councils as Waste Collection Authorities 
and the county council as Waste Disposal Authority have become more complex and 
interdependent. The traditional linear economy of “take, make and dispose” is 
progressively being replaced by a more circular model, where resources are conserved 
and waste is prevented. Local authorities can no longer simply collect and dispose of 
waste, but have a broader role that encompasses each level of the waste management 
hierarchy. 

Figure 1: Waste Management Hierarchy

Local authorities are experiencing a period of unprecedented budgetary pressure. 
Councils have smaller budgets and fewer staff resources. Partnerships and shared 

1 Cheltenham Borough Council has provided notice of its intention to leave the GJWC no later than Dec 
2019

Page 2



3

service arrangements have been developed to continue delivery of vital public services. 
The GJWC has been established to make best use of available resources in a 
coordinated and collaborative way. 

Further information on the operating environment in which the GJWC functions is given 
in appendix 2. This sets out some of the key policy and economic drivers affecting the 
work of the GJWC.

4. Goal
The GJWC’s principal goal remains: 

To align and integrate waste and recycling services across the whole county, incrementally 
as fast as possible, reaching the goal before the end of 2024.

In pursuit of this goal, the partners commit to: 
 approaching service design with an open mind; 
 contributing constructively to the debate;
 striving to reach consensus in the interest of the driving principles; and 
 fairly sharing the reasonable costs of the journey.

5. Principles
In determining the methodology and route to greater service integration, the driving principles 
will be:

 minimising the amount of waste for disposal through prevention, reuse and recycling;
 optimising the whole cost of services to residents; and 
 apportionment of service costs and incentives in a fair and equitable manner. 

6. Success Criteria
The partnership shall be deemed successful when:

 a greater proportion of household waste is diverted from landfill through waste 
prevention, reuse, recycling, anaerobic digestion, composting and energy recovery; 

 residents can easily recycle a broad range of materials; 
 residents have a positive view of recycling and the services provided;
 the unit costs of providing waste services represent good value for money and are 

further reduced where opportunities arise; 
 the recycled materials collected are of high quality and meet the specification of end 

users; 
 costs and savings through joint working are fairly distributed between partners and 

their residents;
 staff, assets and other resources are shared between partners, especially at times of 

change; 
 changes in policy, legislation, technology and social trends are reflected in the work 

of the partnership so that our waste services remain relevant, compliant and effective.

7. Relationship with the Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy (JMWMS) 
and other Gloucestershire collection authorities.

The formation of the GJWC is in line with the JMWMS (albeit that Gloucester City 
Council and Stroud District Council are not voting members of the GJWC at this time). 
This business plan will, however, contribute to the delivery of JMWMS objectives by the 
five GJWC authorities.  Under the JMWMS, each Gloucestershire local authority is 
required to produce an annual action plan that sets out the key waste management 
actions the authority will undertake to implement this strategy.  The action plan included 

Page 3



4

within this business plan at Appendix 3 is the JMWMS action plan for the GJWC 
Partner Authorities and will sit alongside the JMWMS action plans for Gloucester City 
Council and Stroud District Council.

The JMWMS runs to March 2020. Whilst a JMWMS is no longer a legal requirement, 
the future ambitions and plans for waste management beyond 2020 in Gloucestershire 
should be reviewed, agreed and clearly stated by the GJWC. A project to complete this 
work is included within the action plan for 2019-22. 

8. Joint Waste Team

The GJWC is served by a Joint Waste Team (JWT) whose principal role is to specify, 
plan, procure (where authorised by the GJWC and budget holding authority(s)), 
monitor, co-ordinate and improve the delivery of services to householders, delivered by 
a number of service providers. The JWT is responsible for marketing the recyclable 
materials collected by partner councils, and conducts communications and community 
engagement work on behalf of the GJWC. 

9. Achievements in 2018/19 (to date)

Whilst overall waste arisings were 2.5% higher in 2018/19 (forecast using unaudited 
figures to December 2018), a number of performance improvements were made. The 
amount of residual waste collected per household reduced further from 458 
kilograms/household (kg/hh) to 456 kg/hh (the lowest level since monitoring began). 
Food waste capture increased to 90 kg/hh. Overall recycling levels increased to 55.1%, 
although a recent change to treating HRC wood may impact on this rate in future.

It has been another challenging year for the JWT, which has carried vacancies in the 
WDA side of the business and also covered an extended period of sickness absence 
on the WCA side.  Good progress has, however, been made. Notable achievements 
include:

 The completion of a collection options appraisal for Cotswold D.C and the 
ongoing planning for the roll-out of new collection service arrangements in Oct 
2019 that will see a move to separately weekly collections of food waste, a 
change to fortnightly garden waste collections (with a winter shut-down) and the 
addition of materials such as cartons to the range of materials recycled from the 
kerbside. The new service configuration brings the council in line with other 
partner authorities, contributing to the wider service alignment goal.

 The refurbishment of Pyke Quarry and Hempsted Household Recycling Centres 
(HRCs), which included the replacement of ageing static compactors with new 
mobile compactors together with a number of site infrastructure improvements.

 The completion of a cost-benefit exercise to determine residual waste transfer 
requirements from Cheltenham and Tewkesbury boroughs, together with the 
procurement of transfer arrangements across the county.

 The on-going construction and mobilisation planning of the new Javelin Park 
Energy from Waste facility; and,

 The continued delivery of a county-wide waste communications plan including 
the successful, multi-agency anti-litter, “Love your Forest” campaign within the 
Forest of Dean. 

10.Actions

Page 4



5

An action plan setting out key projects and work streams for the 2019/22 period is set 
out in appendix 3. A draft was presented to the GJWC in December 2018 for review. 
The priorities remain: 

 reducing waste and environmental harm; 
 the alignment of services where a business case exists; 
 working in partnership through a joint strategy to deliver a wide range of 

recycling opportunities for residents whenever affordable; and 
 communicating waste reduction and recycling messages as widely as possible. 

A number of projects within the action plan will inform the strategic direction of the 
GJWC: A key project will be to review and renew the Gloucestershire JMWMS. This is 
particularly pertinent given the release of a new national Resources and Waste 
Strategy in December 2018. A number of consultations are expected on the main facets 
of the national strategy and it will be important for the GJWC to contribute to the debate 
on the issues raised. Another important piece of work will be to review the current 
GJWC governance framework and reach a decision on the future of the partnership 
following the forthcoming departure of Cheltenham B.C

There are a number of procurements and contract mobilisation projects to be delivered 
that are needed to ensure continued, high quality service delivery. The single biggest 
contract to be mobilised within the period of this business plan is the new energy from 
waste facility at Javelin Park. This is due to open in July 2019.  It will bring to an end 
Gloucestershire’s reliance on landfill for the disposal of residual household waste and 
has the potential to generate enough electricity to power 25,000 homes. New waste 
transfer arrangements will be mobilised to deliver residual waste to the facility. The 
reprocurement of garden waste composting and food waste treatment are further major 
projects to be completed within the plan timeframe, as is the roll-out of new collection 
services across Cotswold D.C from October 2019. 

The plan retains a strong communications and awareness raising section. Key themes 
for 2019/20 will be: 

 encouraging people to reduce and recycle plastics;
 encouraging people to reduce and recycle food waste; and
 a focus on generating high quality, clean recyclable materials in light of 

tightening restrictions on the export of these materials.

A more detailed communications plan will be developed by the JWT to support the 
implementation of the communications related tasks within the action plan.

11.Draft Budget 2019/20

The draft 2019/20 revenue budgets are set out Appendix 4 These are provisional 
figures that are subject to approval by each authority as part of their budget setting 
process.
The GWJC Constitution requires that any matter that has an impact on any partner’s 
financial standing or service provision may only proceed with the express agreement of 
the partner(s) concerned.

The contractual element of budgets (which is the large majority) are retained by 
individual partners but are managed with the support of the JWT.

Page 5



6

12.Risk Register

A risk register is included at Appendix 5. The risk register will be reviewed regularly by 
the SMG and any high level risks brought to the attention of the GJWC as part of the 
quarterly business plan performance monitoring report.

The need to ensure good cost control and budget monitoring within Ubico remains a 
high risk.  Ubico provides a wide range of waste and cleansing services to the partner 
councils and is investing a significant amount of time and effort to make improvements 
to this part of its business. The mobilisation of the new residual waste treatment 
contract and related waste transfer arrangements also represent a significant change 
and are major projects with inherent delivery risks. 

13.List of Appendices
Appendix 1 – GJWC Background Information
Appendix 2 – Operating Environment
Appendix 3 – Action Plan
Appendix 4 – Draft Budget 2018/19
Appendix 5 – Risk Register

Page 6



7

Appendix 1 – GJWC Background Information

A.1.1 Formation of the Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee (GJWC)

The GJWC has been formed under Section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972 to 
oversee recycling, waste collection and street cleansing services for four district and 
borough councils and to deliver waste treatment and disposal for the County.

The partnership comprises the following authorities:

 Cheltenham Borough Council (CBC);

 Cotswold District Council (CDC);

 Forest of Dean District Council (FoDDC); 

 Gloucestershire County Council (GCC);

 Tewkesbury Borough Council (TBC).

The agreed framework for the GJWC is an Inter Authority Agreement (IAA) signed in 
December 2014 whereby the five authorities named above have delegated their powers 
in relation to the delivery of waste collection and disposal and street cleansing services 
to the GJWC. The IAA contains a Constitution that specifies how the partnership is 
governed.

The GJWC comprises of two Members from each authority on a ‘one Member, one 
vote’ basis. The GJWC meets formally in public session on a quarterly basis with 
informal meetings, workshops and visits taking place as required between formal 
meetings. Election of the Chairman and Vice Chairman will be held annually at an 
AGM. 

The GJWC directs a Joint Waste Team (JWT) led by a Head of Service who reports 
directly to the Joint Waste Committee and has, in turn, functions and powers delegated 
to it by the GJWC. The Head of Service maintains close strategic and operational links 
with the Partner Authorities through a director-level Strategic Management Group 
(SMG). The GJWC is ‘hosted’ by Gloucestershire County Council acting as 
Administering Authority. The roles of the Administering Authority and SMG are set out 
in the IAA.

A.1.2 Purpose of the GJWC

The GJWC provides a shared decision making body to improve services and deliver 
savings. It aims to facilitate whole system thinking to reinforce quality of decision 
making from customer, financial and resource efficiency points of view.

A.1.3 Vision of the GJWC

In June 2011 the emerging partners agreed a joint vision which aspired to the formation 
of a partnership. The aims identified include: 
 

 Reducing landfill and encouraging high participation in waste avoidance, reuse, 
recycling and food waste collection schemes. 

Page 7



8

 Engaging with local people to encourage participation in recycling, support 
economic wellbeing and use efficient, sustainable and affordable solutions at 
every stage of the process. 

 Encouragement and facilitation of innovation, joined up strategy, policy and 
operations across the county, continuing to encourage all Gloucestershire 
councils to join the partnership. 

 Developing a holistic approach to service review so that the financial proposition 
is the most sustainable for the local taxpayer. 

 Working together in partnership to deliver more efficient waste services.
 Considering potential for waste collection and disposal as a single system 

provided for the council tax payers of Gloucestershire.
 Governance by a Joint Waste Committee with delegated powers to act in the 

area of waste disposal and collection with representatives from each of the 
participating District and the County Councils. 

 Formation of a Joint Waste Team responsible for:
o Delivering on Business Plan actions and any further resolutions
o Managing existing external waste contracts. 

 Having safeguards in place to ensure that the Districts and the County retain 
decision-making on significant budgetary and service change matters.

 Maintaining existing customer contact arrangements. 
 Managing within a common strategy with the goal of achieving the most efficient 

waste service.
 Planning across district and borough boundaries, optimising depot and transfer 

stations infrastructure and the use and purchase of resources such as vehicles. 

A.1.4 Key Principles Regarding Financial Control and Service Provision 

The Constitution facilitates joint working while reserving that any matter that has an 
impact on any partner’s financial standing or service provision may only proceed with 
the express agreement of the partner(s) concerned. 

A.1.5 Services Provided

The Partner Authorities have delegated responsibility for the following service areas to 
the GJWC:

 Household residual waste, dry recycling and organics collection;
 Local Authority Collected Waste transfer, treatment and disposal;
 Bring sites;
 Household Recycling Centres (HRCs);
 Bulky household waste collection;
 Commercial waste collection (where offered); 
 Street cleansing; 
 Waste and street cleansing PR, marketing and community engagement 

(including with schools);
 Medical sharps and clinical waste collection and disposal.

A.1.6 The Budgetary Framework 

The Budgetary Framework is set out within the IAA, specifically Schedules 4 and 5. 
The main principles are as follows:

Page 8



9

 The Constitution requires that any matter that has an impact on any partner’s 
financial standing or service provision may only proceed with the express 
agreement of the partner(s) concerned.

 The partnership accumulated funding remaining to cover Head of Service and 
support costs. The reserve was envisaged to be sufficient to last for the first 
three years and thereafter these costs are to be funded by the partner 
authorities. 

 The salary, expenses and local service and supply costs of transferred 
employees are covered by the transferring authority who reimburse the 
Administering Authority accordingly.

 Contract payments and other ongoing liabilities in connection with the service 
are made by the contract holding authority upon instruction of the JWT.

 Income received by the partner authorities for garden waste etc. will be retained 
by each local authority to offset contractual costs. 

Page 9



10

Appendix 2 - The Operating Environment

A.2.1 Overview
There are many issues affecting services that are not under the control of the GJWC, 
JWT or the partners.  Recycling and waste management is a statutory, demand-led 
service with a high proportion of fixed costs due to contractual and/or tax requirements. 
There is however some variability particularly around waste tonnages and the mix of 
materials recovered. These variable costs can be influenced by macroeconomic effects 
such as changes in the economy, the markets for recyclable materials, government 
policy and social behaviour such as the degree of participation in recycling schemes.

There is always a degree of uncertainty about how such external factors will impact and 
interplay. However, the business environment in this period is expected to be shaped 
by the following issues: 

 Political and economic uncertainty as the UK prepares to leave the EU by March 
2019;

 Uncertainty in the recovered materials markets as a result of import restrictions 
on plastics and mixed paper and card by countries such as China;

 A new and emerging national policy framework for resources and waste;
 Growing government and public concern over plastic waste and its 

environmental impact;
 Increased global action to reduce food waste;
 Difficulty in recruiting and retaining sufficient staff locally for waste operational 

roles, particularly drivers; 
 Ongoing challenges to public bodies to meet the budget deficit; and,
 Increased demand from a growing and ageing population.

A.2.2 External Drivers

A.2.2.1 Resources and Waste Strategy
The DEFRA Resources and Waste Strategy was released on 18th December 2018. 
Many of the policies contained in the strategy are subject to consultations that will 
determine whether they will happen and if so,  the detail of how they might be 
implemented. 

The strategy contains some potentially significant changes in waste policy across the 
UK that will impact on local authority operations. It also looks to enact some of the 
requirements of the EU Circular Economy Package that the UK has signed up to and 
agreed to implement in full (a summary of the Circular Economy Package was provided 
within last year’s business plan).

Some of the main issues of note to local authorities within the strategy are:
 A proposal (subject to consultation) to extend producer responsibility initially for 

packaging  and in the longer term for a range of materials such as electrical 
goods, batteries, textiles, bulky waste and tyres, so that the full costs of waste 
recycling are met by the waste producers.

 The introduction (subject to consultation) of a Deposit Return System for single-
use drinks containers.

 The introduction of legislation (subject to consultation) to require all local 
authorities and waste operators to collect a core set of materials for recycling in 
a consistent way.

Page 10



11

 The requirement (subject to consultation) for all local authorities to have a 
separate weekly collection of food waste and also to provide free garden waste 
collections.

 The prevention of charging at Household Waste Recycling Centres and setting 
minimum requirements for site opening hours (subject to consultation).

 A review of the effectiveness of current arrangements for local authority waste 
management in two-tier areas.

A.2.2.2 Leaving the EU
There is widespread uncertainty surrounding the UK’s withdrawal from the EU. Waste 
management services have become more reliant on foreign workers and the withdrawal 
from Europe may make it more difficult to recruit certain roles, particularly HGV drivers 
where a market shortage is already being experienced. There are also some short term 
concerns relating to the import of goods such as vehicle parts and fuel, and the export 
of recyclable materials such as paper and card which are often sold in to Europe for 
reprocessing. 

A.2.2.3 Secondary Material Markets
The materials collected by councils for recycling are often globally traded commodities. 
The markets for secondary material can be volatile, with prices moving up and down as 
a result of global demand.  

The introduction of restrictions by the Chinese Government on the level of 
contamination accepted within imported recyclable materials has been mirrored by 
similar restrictions elsewhere.

The tighter quality requirements introduced by export markets means that 
improvements to the quality of UK materials has been necessary. This has increased 
processing costs and as a result lower prices have been paid for some collected 
materials. Improving domestic recycling capacity is a stated aim within the new DEFRA 
Resources and Waste Strategy.

For the partners within the GJWC, a close eye will need to be kept on market prices, so 
that budgets can be managed responsively. Efforts need to be made to ensure that the 
materials placed on to the market are clean and of good quality, so that the best 
available prices can be sought. 

A.2.3 Challenges

Gloucestershire has achieved a high level of waste recycling; recycling more than 50% 
for the first time in 2017/18. Levels of residual waste have also reduced to their lowest 
level at a forecast 458kg/hh/yr in 201819. A key challenge will be to make further 
improvements to these figures. This will require ongoing communications and public 
engagement work, consistent, high quality collection systems and continued efforts to 
find outlets for collected materials within a challenging market place. 

Achieving the GJWC aspiration of achieving service integration by 2024 will require a 
detailed review of current service arrangements, a review of available options and the 
development of proposals that are acceptable and workable for all partners. The recent 
options appraisal completed for Cotswold D.C has provided a good template for 
reviewing current services, appraising future options and developing preferred options. 
The willingness of partner authorities to change existing services remains an area of 

Page 11



12

uncertainty, not least because current systems are generally providing high levels of 
recycling and have stripped out any savings that can be made. 
Council budgets continue to be constrained as the revenue support grant continues to 
reduce in real terms year on year. As a result waste management services are 
increasingly focussed on core service delivery, with little funding or capacity to focus on 
developmental work. In some instances service levels are being reduced (such as the 
reduced opening hours at HRCs introduced across Gloucestershire in October 2018). 

Gloucestershire continues to grow, which places pressure on services year on year. 
Between 2014 and 2039, the county’s population growth is an estimated 16.8%. 
Tewkesbury and Gloucester will have largest increases over 25 years (24.5% and 
19.9%) and Forest of Dean the lowest (10.9%).

The age structure of Gloucestershire’s population is also changing. Over a 25 year 
period (2014-2039) the number of residents aged 65 or over will rise by 66.6% (from 
123,800 to 206,300). Those aged over 85 will increase by 40% (from 17,100 to 42,300). 
By contrast, the working age population (those aged 20 – 64) will increase by only 
1.4%. Waste and recycling collection remains a fairly labour intensive operation and 
local providers have reported difficulties in recruiting and retaining operational staff.

The JWT will continue to work with our service providers to seek efficiencies in the way 
that waste management services are delivered and deliver high quality services to 
Gloucestershire residents within existing resources. 

The new DEFRA Resources and Waste Strategy offers a number of potential 
opportunities. Extended producer responsibility for packaging could provide additional 
funding for local authority recycling. Equally, any requirements around collection system 
and HRC design and minimum standards are likely to be new burdens for which central 
government funding should be forthcoming. 

Page 12



13

Appendix 3 – Action Plan

Target completion dates that are either ongoing or are beyond December 2019 are shaded in grey, as completion of these tasks may be 
dependent upon successor arrangements that may follow the Dissolution Date (of 13th December 2019) triggered by the departure of 
Cheltenham B.C.

 Project Affecting   Objective and /or Outcomes
Target 
completion 
date

1 Strategic Direction

1.1 Service Integration Routemap. All To develop a preferred option and pathway to 
service integration. Oct-19

1.2
Continue to encourage Gloucester 
City and Stroud DC to join the 
JWC.

All

To develop an overall strategy and optimised 
delivery framework for efficient, effective and 
inclusive resource management in 
Gloucestershire.  

Ongoing

1.3

Review and renew the 
Gloucestershire Joint Municipal 
Waste Management Strategy 
(GJMWMS). 

All
To agree a vision, priorities and targets for 
municipal waste management in Gloucestershire 
beyond Mar 2020.

Feb-20

1.4 Review partnership IAA, payments 
and funding arrangements. All

To ensure that governance and funding 
arrangements continue to support the 
achievement of the partnerships' vision, priorities 
and targets. To continue to provide good value for 
money for partner councils.

Oct-20

1.5

Review the National Waste and 
Resources Strategy, responding to 
related consultations where 
relevant.

All

To ensure the Gloucestershire waste strategy is 
aligned with national priorities and that 
Gloucestershire has a voice in helping to shape 
these priorities.

Mar-22

P
age 13



14

2 Infrastructure

2.1
Review current depot, transfer and 
HRC provision and assess future 
requirements.

All
To assess current premises and identify future 
infrastructure requirements needed to meet future 
GJWMS priorities and targets.

Mar-21

3 Procurement

3.1
Procurement of a replacement 
composting contract for garden 
waste collected in Gloucestershire.

All New contract to compost garden waste. To include 
bulking and haulage where required. Jan-20

3.2 Purchase HRC mobile compactors. GCC To replace compactors at Oak Quarry, Wingmoor 
and (subject to capital bid) Fosse Cross HRCs. Jun-19

3.3 Food waste contract procurement. GCC

To ensure that a food waste recycling contract 
remains in place beyond the end of current 
contract term.  To include bulking and haulage 
where required.

Sep-21

3.4
Reach decision on contract 
extensions for sale of recyclable 
materials from HRC sites.

GCC To ensure continued arrangements for HRC 
recyclate sales. Aug-20

3.5 Dry recycling material transfer 
extension/procurement. TBC

To ensure that there are adequate arrangements 
in place for the transfer of mixed dry recycling to 
the MRF beyond the end of the current contract 
term.

Apr-19

3.6
Make arrangements for the 
continued monitoring of closed 
landfill sites.

GCC
To ensure monitoring remains in place following 
the end of the current waste disposal services 
contract.

Jan-20

3.7
Make arrangements for the 
collection and disposal of clinical 
waste.

All
To ensure collection and disposal arrangements 
remain in place for clinical waste following the end 
of the current waste disposal services contract.

Jan-20

3.8
Ensure arrangements remain in 
place for the collection of sharps 
from community pharmacies.

All
To ensure collection and disposal arrangements 
remain in place for sharps following the end of 
funding for this service by the NHS.

Apr-19

P
age 14



15

4 Service Development, Efficiency and Improvement

4.1
Review options for dewatering and 
recycling street sweepings and 
gulley waste. 

All To assess and, if economically viable, arrange 
recycling of street sweepings and gulley waste.   Mar-20

4.2
To review and establish how new 
developments that cross 
boundaries will be serviced.

TBC

To undertake a business case for a consistent 
service in the JCS area around Cheltenham that 
crosses district boundaries.  To ensure that the 
preferred collection service is aligned with wider 
GJWC work on service integration.

Oct-19

4.3
Support CDC in implementing new 
waste and recycling collection 
service in 2019.

CDC

To implement the recommendations of the 
collection service options appraisal, by overseeing 
the implementation of new waste and recycling 
collection services by Ubico in Cotswold D.C

Oct-19

4.4 Review HRCs to explore service 
efficiency opportunities. GCC 

Devise and implement further efficiencies at HRCs 
in order to contribute to GCC's wider savings 
programme.

Jun-19

4.5 Residual waste composition 
analysis. GCC Four-season analysis of kerbside and HRC 

residual waste commencing summer 2018. Apr-19

4.6 Mobilisation of Javelin Park Energy 
from Waste contract. GCC To ensure that the contract is mobilised on time 

and in line with the contract requirements. Jul-19

4.7 Mobilisation of Forest of Dean 
Street Cleaning Contract. FoDDC To ensure a smooth mobilisation of the new 

contract. Apr-19

4.8
Coordinate Forest of Dean 
community panel on waste and 
recycling

FoDDC To seek local residents views on current and 
future waste and recycling service priorities Ongoing

4.9 Assess the feasibility of introducing 
reuse shops at HRCs GCC To reduce waste and increase reuse by providing 

reuse shops at HRC Oct-20

4.10
Review of the trade waste service 
to ensure viable commercial 
operation

TBC Present findings and gain support for service 
improvements Oct 19

P
age 15



16

5 Communications and Behavioural Change

5.1

Communications campaign 
highlighting the importance of 
separating the right materials for 
recycling.

All Maintaining high quality recyclable materials and 
minimising contamination. Mar-20

5.2
Communications campaign to 
promote food waste prevention and 
recycling.

All

Encourage residents to reduce food waste, 
maintain high capture rates of food waste for 
recycling and minimise the amount of food waste 
within the residual waste stream.

Mar-20

5.3
Communications campaign to 
promote the reduction and 
recycling of plastic waste.

All

Encourage residents to reduce consumption of 
single-use plastics, maintain high capture rates of 
plastic for recycling and minimise the amount of 
plastic materials within the residual waste stream.

Mar-20

5.4 Javelin Park communications. GCC To ensure consistent and clear communications 
relating to the  operation of the facility. Ongoing

5.5 Continued promotion of real 
nappies. GCC

To provide information and support on the use of 
reusable nappies and to promote the uptake of the 
Gloucestershire Real Nappy voucher scheme.

Ongoing

5.6 Continued support for home and 
community composting. GCC

To provide information and support on home and 
community composting and continue to make 
home composting bins available for purchase by 
Gloucestershire residents.

Ongoing

5.7 Promote garden waste collection 
schemes in all districts.

CDC, 
FoDDC & 

TBC

To promote and sustain uptake in garden waste 
collection services. Jun-19

5.8 To build on the Love Your Forest 
anti-litter campaign. FoDDC

To develop and deliver an action plan to work with 
the community to change behaviour and reduce 
littering across the district. Wherever possible, to 
share and apply learning across the partnership.

Ongoing

P
age 16



17

5.9
Support the roll-out of new waste 
and recycling collection services in 
Cotswold D.C

CDC

To provide clear and timely information on any 
changes and enhancements to collection services 
so that any disruption from the service change is 
minimised and recycling performance is 
maximised.

Oct-19

5.10
Review and update the Recycle for 
Gloucestershire branding and 
communications materials.

All
To provide attractive, modern communication 
channels to promote our sustainable waste 
management messages.

Mar-20

6 Safety, Health and Environmental impact of operations

6.10

Monitoring, reporting and 
continuous review of health and 
safety policy and practices of 
GJWC contractors and service 
providers.

All To ensure safe working practices are in place and 
to establish common processes and best practice. Ongoing

P
age 17



18

Appendix 4 – Draft Budget 2019/20 
Revenue Budget Summary - Gloucestershire Joint Waste 

Partnership
Indicative 2019/20 Budget

 
Head of Service: Wayne Lewis

 
  

Budget Area Total
 Budget
 £'000
  

Joint Waste Management Unit  
  Gross Expenditure 324
  Income -324
  Net Expenditure 0
TOTAL - GJWP 0
  
Waste Disposal  
Royalty Payments -290
Waste Treatment 20,218
Household Recycling Centres  
  Gross Expenditure 3,095
  Income -524
  Net Expenditure 2,571
Recycling Credits 4,267
Bulking, Haulage & Tipping Away  
  Gross Expenditure 2,271
  Income -50
  Net Expenditure 2,221
Closed Landfill Sites 29
Management Costs  
  Gross Expenditure 4
  Income -8
  Net Expenditure -4
Waste Projects 50
Marketing Promotions - Waste 50
TOTAL - WASTE DISPOSAL 29,112
 

 

Page 18



19

Waste Collection  
Household Waste 5,104
Bulky Household Waste  
  Gross Expenditure 108
  Income -174
  Net Expenditure -66
Food/Organic Waste  
  Gross Expenditure 496
  Income 0
  Net Expenditure 496
Green Waste  
  Gross Expenditure 2,870
  Income -2,789
  Net Expenditure 81
Recycling Centres  
  Gross Expenditure 458
  Income -163
  Net Expenditure 295
Bring Sites  
  Gross Expenditure 326
  Income -77
  Net Expenditure 249
Recycling Collection Schemes  
  Gross Expenditure 7,466
  Income -2,903
  Net Expenditure 4,563
Bulking of Recyclables  
  Gross Expenditure 388
  Income -580
  Net Expenditure -192
Trade Waste  
  Gross Expenditure 922
  Income -931
  Net Expenditure -9
Recycling Schemes Marketing 88
TOTAL - WASTE COLLECTION 10,609
  
Street Cleaning 3,085
  
Central Costs  
Central Support Costs/Internal Client Teams 549
JWT Staffing Costs 673
Depreciation 553
TOTAL - CENTRAL COSTS 1,775
  
TOTAL NET EXPENDITURE 44,581

Page 19



20

Appendix 5 – Risk Register

 Raw 
Score   Mitigated 

Score  Area Risk Effect
Impact prob. score 

Mitigation planned 
Impact Prob. score 

Pressure to reduce budgets 
places existing services 
under financial pressure. 
The affordability of existing 
services becomes more 
questionable.

Services may have to 
change or service providers 
have to save money by 
adjusting the service 
offered.

Hi Hi 

 

Work with service suppliers to make 
efficiencies or change service offer 
to be more affordable.

Med Hi 

 

Improvements to services 
are harder to make in a 
climate of financial 
hardship.

Service providers can only 
offer service improvements 
by being more efficient or 
by making savings 
elsewhere.

Hi Hi 

 

Continue to work with service 
suppliers to identify efficiencies 
which can be re-invested. Evaluate 
future service options. 

Med Hi 

 

Waste growth per 
household leads to 
increased volumes of waste 
requiring collection and/or 
treatment/disposal.

Budget pressure created by 
increasing waste volumes. Med Hi 

 

Continued public engagement 
(through an agreed GJWC 
communications plan) and 
interventions to encourage waste 
prevention. Ensure sufficient annual 
budget provision made for housing 
and inflationary growth.

Med Med

 

Financial

Income from sales of 
recyclate (Risk)

Market values for plastics 
and mixed paper & card 
remain low and may be 
affected by overseas quality 
restrictions and EU export 
difficulties post-brexit.

Med Hi

 

This is due to market forces but 
maintaining high quality of materials 
may help reduce the impact. May 
be necessary to review the 
materials accepted for recycling if 
outlets become difficult to find.. 
JWT will track Glos prices against 
national trends and maintain 
contingency arrangements for 
situations when it becomes difficult 
to sell materials.

Med Hi

 

P
age 20



21

Ubico service costs 
increase beyond budgeted 
amounts.

Additional budget has to be 
found, meaning that other 
services may need to be 
cut back.

Hi Hi

 

Improved financial systems 
introduced by Ubico. Monthly 
budget monitoring by JWT and 
Partner Councils as part of regular 
contract monitoring and financial 
reporting processes. Quarterly 
monitoring and reporting by ESPBs. 
Efforts made in setting 2019/20 
contract sums to identify all known 
costs and pressures within the base 
budget. SMG meets with Ubico MD 
about the need for continued 
improvement to financial controls.

Hi Med

 
          

District council local 
elections result in changes 
to GJWC membership

Loss of momentum and/or 
support for the Business 
plan

Hi Med
 

Early engagement with new 
members to outline the GJWC's 
purpose and plans.

Med Med
 

The introduction of a 
Deposit Return Scheme for 
drinks containers reduces 
income from council 
kerbside schemes

Reduced income from sale 
of aluminium cans and 
plastic bottles.

Med Med

 

Lobby government that DRS should 
apply only to hard to recycle items 
such as coffee cups and not to 
materials that are already widely 
recycled by councils.

Med Med

 Political

New Waste & Resources 
Strategy provides greater 
policy direction on waste 
management.

Greater clarity and direction 
on areas that the JWC 
should focus on in order to 
align with the national 
agenda for waste.

Med Med

 

Review the Joint Municipal Waste 
Management Strategy now that  the 
national Waste & Resources 
Strategy is published and seek to 
contribute to consultations on the 
new national strategy.

Med Med

 
          

The GJWC terminates in 
Dec 2019 following an Exit 
Notice issued by CBC in 
Dec 18.

Partnership working on 
waste management ceases 
or is greatly reduced, 
leading to a loss of 
coordination and 
cooperation.

High High

 

Hold workshops to determine future 
preferences and requirements. If 
termination is favoured then ensure 
a planned and structured hand over 
plan is developed.

Med Med

 Organisational

Balance of resources 
between partners.

The level of demand and 
expectation of the JWT 
from partners is greater 
than can be delivered within 

Hi Med

 

Use the business planning process 
to understand and resolve how the 
JWT resources are to be utilised 
across partners.  A review of 

Med Med

 

P
age 21



22

current resources. current resources is included within 
the business plan. 

Failure to agree on a future 
aligned collection service.

Ambition to provide an 
integrated service across 
Gloucestershire (where a 
business case exists) is not 
met.

Med Hi

 

Ensure an objective and information 
led approach to assess and agree 
future options that also includes 
public consultation.

Med Med

 
          

Delay to the construction 
and commissioning of the 
Javelin Park EfW facility. 

Waste cannot be delivered 
to the facility and continues 
to be landfilled.

Hi Lo

 

Regular monitoring and review of 
the management and operating 
systems in place with the 
contractor. Contingency 
arrangements through the 
extension of current landfill 
contracts. 

Med Lo

 

Failure to secure transfer 
arrangements for the 
delivery of waste to Javelin 
Park.

Waste cannot be delivered 
to the facility or waste has 
to be direct delivered by 
collection vehicles over 
longer distances.

V Hi Med

 

Mobilisation of new contracts. 
Development of a direct delivery 
contingency plan with WCAs. 

Med Lo

 

 Driver shortages

Impact on service delivery if 
not all rounds can be 
deployed, particularly if 
over a sustained period. 
Wage pressure may also 
become a factor.

Hi Hi

 

Work with contractors to ensure 
they have policies in place for driver 
training and retention. Ensure 
drivers have met CTC 
requirements.

Hi Med

 

No sites can be brought 
forward for new FoDDC 
depot required by 2024.

Unable to offer depot 
premises for 
bidders/service providers.

Hi Hi

 

Develop Business Case for 
securing and developing a site. 
Secure site(s) as identified by site 
search exercise.

Hi Med

 

 Operational 

Inclement weather affects 
waste and recycling 
collection service.

Service disruption caused 
by bad weather. Hi Med

 

Ensure that emergency plans and 
inclement weather policies are 
regularly updated and shared with 
all appropriate stakeholders. 
Conduct reviews following each 
incident to ensure plans remain fit 
for purpose.

Med Med

 

P
age 22



23

          

Commercial
 Capacity of contractors to 
develop / improve services / 
make new proposals 

As service providers take 
on more work, resources 
can be stretched; 
performance & commitment 
to service development can 
suffer.

Med Med

 

Work with service suppliers to 
ensure changes are managed with 
appropriate resources and services 
are delivered to the expected level.

Med Lo

 

P
age 23



24

Risk Register Matrix

V.Hi V.Hi

Hi Hi

Med Med

Lo Lo

V.Lo V.Lo

V.Lo Lo Med Hi V.Hi V.Hi Hi Med Lo V.Lo

(Threats) (Opportunities)

Acceptable risk level Limited Opportunity

Mitigation desirable Some scope for benefit

Mitigation essential Significant opportunity

P
ro

ba
bi

lit
y P

robability

Positive ImpactNegative Impact

P
age 24



Residual Waste Treatment Update 

Committee Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee 

Committee Date 12th February 2019

Significant 
Decision

No

Responsible 
Officers

Wayne Lewis, Gloucestershire Joint Waste Team 

wayne.lewis@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Main Consultees None 

Purpose of Report To update on progress on the construction of the Javelin Park Energy 
from Waste (EfW) facility and on mobilisation plans for the delivery of 
waste to the facility.

Recommendations It is recommended that the committee notes the progress on the 
construction of the EfW facility and the mobilisation plans for waste 
deliveries. 

Resource 
Implications

There are no direct financial implications resulting from this report.

1. Background

1.1 GCC awarded a contract to treat Gloucestershire’s residual waste to Urbaser 
Balfour Beatty (UBB) in February 2013, which was re-signed in 2016. The contract 
is for the treatment of residual waste that remains after residents have reduced, 
reused and recycled as much as possible. Gloucestershire achieved a countywide 
recycling rate of 54% in 2017/18; its highest rate to date. Despite good progress in 
recycling, there is still a significant amount of residual waste that should be diverted 
from landfill, which for 2017/18 was around 130,000 tonnes and is forecast to be of 
a similar amount in 2018/19. 

1.2UBB’s technical solution is incineration with energy recovery. The facility is being 
built at Javelin Park, near Haresfield and will have capacity to treat all of 
Gloucestershire’s residual household waste, whilst generating enough electricity to 
supply up to 25,000 households. 

Page 25

Agenda Item 7

mailto:wayne.lewis@gloucestershire.gov.uk


2. Construction

2.1 Construction work commenced in summer 2016 and continues on schedule. Good 
progress has been made since the last update to the joint committee in December 
2018:

 The weighbridge and gatehouse have been delivered and the laying of 
permanent roads and car parks has commenced;

 the facility has been connected to the National Grid and the distribution of 
electricity across the site continues;

 Installation of piping, lagging and cable pulling is progressing well;
 Internal stud-wall, plastering and painting is underway;
 All areas of process equipment, building services and fire detection/suppression 

equipment are well progressed; and,
 The operational team has been recruited.

3. Mobilisation

3.1 The facility is due to be fully operational in July 2019. Hot commissioning (the 
point at which some waste begins to be received and processed) will commence in 
April 2019 (slightly later than the March commencement date indicated previously). 
Indicative delivery requirements have been set out in a 60 day notice received from 
UBB, which have in turn been shared with each WCA. 

3.2 Regular meetings between GCC, WCAs, collection and transfer contractors and 
UBB are held. These meetings are focussed on the training of all collection and 
supervisory staff on the safe delivery and tipping of waste on site, the confirmation of 
tipping arrangements for those wastes that will not be processed on site and agreeing 
waste delivery plans for the commissioning period. Site inductions for supervisory staff 
will commence in February. 

3.3 Award letters for Waste Transfer Service contracts have been issued and the 10 
day stand-still period has elapsed. Mobilisation of the contract for the Cheltenham and 
Tewkesbury areas is underway, with plans in place for site inductions for Ubico 
collection operatives at the site. In line with the indicative plan for waste deliveries set 
out by UBB, waste deliveries to and from the transfer stations are scheduled to 
commence in May. The transfer station contractors have also be asked to attend the 
ongoing mobilisation meetings with UBB. 

3.4 The directions to WCAs agreed by the committee in December 2018 will be issued 
once final confirmation of delivery dates is received from UBB. This will be in the form 
of a 20 day notice of contract commencement. Related agreements between GCC and 
CBC and GCC and TBC relating to residual waste deliveries will also be finalised at that 
point. Regular informal contact between the parties is being maintained throughout the 
mobilisation phase.

Page 26



Tipping Away Consultation

Committee Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee 

Committee Date 12 February 2019

Significant 
Decision No

Responsible 
Officers

Andy Pritchard, Strategy & Development Manager 01452 
427014; andy.pritchard@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Main Consultees District Councils

Purpose of Report To update members on responses received and on the next 
steps. 

Recommendations It is recommended that the Committee notes the report.

Resource 
Implications None

1. Background

Between 22nd November 2018 and 16th January 2019 Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) 
undertook a consultation with the district councils regarding the future adoption of a policy for the 
tipping away of waste outside district collection areas. This was in response to a cabinet decision in 
October 2018 to consult upon a policy in advance of a decision to define and adopt such a policy.

The consultation considered an application of the requirements of the Environmental Protection Act 
1990 to pay a ‘reasonable contribution’ to waste collection authorities for delivery of waste to a 
disposal point beyond what might be considered to be a ‘reasonable distance’ outside a waste 
collection area. A formula developed by the National Association of Waste Disposal Officers was 
presented as a possible model for these payments. It offers potential flexibility in their calculation 
dependent upon a number of variables. This model would arrive at a payment of a ‘reasonable 
contribution’ as follows:

Payment    = No. of journeys      x2(D-d)              x Average hourly rate of vehicle
by vehicles Ave. speed operating costs

where D is the total distance travelled outside the waste collection area and d is the mileage within 
which it is considered reasonable to travel.

The purpose of the consultation was to test the application of this model and identify any 
approaches and potential concerns in determining the value of each variable.  

The results of this consultation have been received and are currently being considered. It is expected 
that a paper will be prepared for consideration by Cabinet in March or April this year.

2. Summary of Responses

Page 27

Agenda Item 8



Comprehensive responses to each consultation question were received from Cheltenham 
Borough Council, Tewkesbury Borough Council, Cotswold District Council and Forest of 
Dean District Council. All respondents highlighted similar issues and reflected a general 
consensus on the approach which GCC should take in the development of a tipping away 
policy.

No responses were received from either Gloucester City Council or Stroud District Council.

A summary of responses in relation to each question are presented here:

Q1) Does this model consider all appropriate variables? What additional variables, if 
any, would you want to see included, and why?  Do you have any further comments 
in relation to how the requirements of the EPA are captured within this model?

- The model either does not consider all the variables, or is not clear in what is 
included within each variable and how they are calculated. Until it is decided what is 
included in each variable it is difficult to comment further.

- Are capital and other one-off costs of change included? Will the model include all 
real operating costs?

- It is important to know how negotiations will be undertaken when arriving at the cost 
variable. This should be undertaken in partnership between both parties, using 
technical expertise when necessary.

- It would be preferable to use actual vehicle movement data rather than a tonnage 
based average.

- If a multi-purpose vehicle is used, consideration should be given to the tipping point 
for other materials and the impact this has on total journey time and the length of 
the working day. Linked to this, it may be necessary to purchase one or more new 
vehicles (with subsequent crews) in order to complete the rounds, adding to the 
total real cost of change.

- There is a carbon impact of additional vehicles.
- The cost of change should be the difference between the current costs at the 

current tipping point (or population midpoint) and the new costs of tipping away, not 
just a calculation made from the closest boundary point.

Q2) The district boundary nearest to the disposal point is used as the starting point 
for calculations of when tipping waste outside the waste collection area (D).  Do you 
think there may be any circumstances where it might be justifiable to alter this 
approach? If so, what alternative starting point could be considered in each of those 
circumstances?

- It may be more reasonable to use a depot location where vehicles park and operate 
from. District boundaries can be a long way from the depot.

- In large districts/boroughs, the boundary point will not reflect the full length of 
journeys made.

- In order to reach a boundary, there are other factors to consider such as weight and 
height restrictions on some routes. The nearest boundary point may be on one of 
these unsuitable routes and would therefore not be a suitable point to use in 
calculations. If the boundary point was to be used, the reference point at which 
calculations commence should be mutually agreed with operational and technical 
input.

- An annual review and indexation of costs would be needed.
- If new vehicles were needed, how would this be funded and what time frame would 

be given for implementation?

Page 28



Q3) The NAWDO model suggests a return journey of between 0 and 30 minutes (not 
including tipping time) beyond a WCA boundary could be considered to be a 
reasonable distance for a disposal point. This means that some flexibility is built 
into the NAWDO model, allowing for this distance to vary depending on the type of 
route used (e.g. motorway journeys would have a higher disregarded mileage 
compared to slower routes). Should any other considerations be applied in 
determining any disregarded mileage (d)?

- It is necessary to consider congestion on any route and what this will do to journey 
times, irrespective of mileage.

- Higher mileage may have a detrimental impact on some vehicles.
- Consideration should be given to the whole journey time, and not just that part 

outside the boundary.
- How would the distance/speed/time calculation be applied when speeds may vary 

due to conditions? Will this use a midpoint calculation?
- Disregarded mileage considered reasonable to travel will in some way be relative to 

the journeys the operator currently travels.
- It would be unreasonable to calculate a reasonable contribution to the WCA costs if 

the boundary point is used as a starting point for the calculation.
- Disregarded mileage is a major concern. This could result in a significant amount of 

disregarded mileage for which an additional vehicle may be required. This may also 
impact the collection of other materials, potentially requiring more than one 
additional vehicle.

- There is a very real risk that GCC procure disposal contracts which are competitive 
and reduce disposal costs but increase the net burden on the tax payer by 
significantly increasing the costs for the collection authorities. There should be a 
contractual requirement on tipping locations to facilitate rapid tipping to reduce time.

Q4) Different types of vehicle will operate at different costs and speeds. Therefore it 
would seem reasonable to calculate tipping away payments separately for each 
vehicle type rather than using a fleet average. Is this a sensible approach, and if not, 
what would be the alternative approach?

- All agreed

Q5) The average vehicle speed can be determined as an actual figure in one of two 
ways; i) using online mapping and known vehicle specs, ii) by using actuals 
determined from trial runs or vehicle tracker information. What would be your 
preferred approach and why?

- Actual data should be used, which should be variable depending upon the time of 
day the journey is made.

- Neither is ideal, average speed should be real and should depend on the routes 
used and these routes may be different from that used in the calcuation. Online 
mapping may not reflect actual journeys, and trial runs would only show what is 
happening at the time. Rounds change, so routes may also change. As such it 
would make more sense to agree an average that could be used.

Q6) There is a requirement to include hourly vehicle operating costs within the 
model. We would envisage that these costs would be supplied by each WCA and 
verified prior to being applied within the model. Do you have any further comments 
in respect of how this process would work?

- Verification by a neutral party to ensure fairness and consistency would seem 
reasonable.

Page 29



- To prevent any avoidable time consuming and costly disputes, agreement on what 
is included should be sought and appended to the policy for future changes and 
auditing.

- Verification of costs should be in partnership.
- The average per vehicle type should be used, not the average of the whole fleet.
- If contracts or operations change the hourly rate could change – how will this work 

in practice? Will the payment be flexible in order to adapt to change?
- There should be agreed costs which are included so that costs are transparent and 

equitable.
- We note that depreciation is not included, however the increased wear and tear on 

vehicles will reduce the period over which vehicles are depreciated so this needs to 
be incorporated into the net service costs.

- Costs would have to come from the contractor, which could be time consuming for 
all parties.

- Agreement is needed within the policy on what is included in the hourly rate.

Q7) The number of journeys undertaken in any period will determine the payment 
due for that period. What would be the preferred period upon which payments 
should be made (monthly, quarterly or annually)?

- Two authorities stated that monthly payments would be preferred, and two stated 
that quarterly is fine too.

- Two authorities stated in the narrative that either quarterly or annually would be fine 
but should be accurately forecasted for budgeting purposes.

(note that these two responses appear to contradict each other, additional 
clarification can be requested on this) 

Q8) Are there any other matters that you consider should be included in the 
development of a tipping away payment policy?

- Fairness and consistency to ensure that all costs are included.
- How are the variable going to be agreed? Will it be equitable, will it be reviewed 

periodically and on a case by case basis? Can additional costs be reimbursed?
- Provide the WCA with sufficient time to prepare for change.
- Actual data should be used, rather than tonnage based averages.
- Clarity and consultation is requested when calculating distances used for payments.
- Full cost recovery is proposed, and agreement on how this is achieved should be 

sought, using either an independent consultant or open book accounting.

3. Next Steps

Overall, there is concern that the model should provide full cost recovery associated with 
tipping away, and where tipping away will require new investment in vehicles and crews, 
this should be included in the calculation. In addition, the model should be flexible to allow 
for differences in routes, vehicle types, wear and tear and unforeseen circumstances (eg 
traffic congestion) and should be reviewed periodically (such as annually) to accommodate 
changes in costs. All respondents are requesting involvement in agreeing the data used 
when arriving at a payment level.

Gloucestershire County Council will review all consultation submissions before reaching a 
decision on the adoption of a tipping away policy.

Page 30



Resources and Waste Strategy 2018

Committee Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee 

Committee Date 12 February 2019

Significant 
Decision No

Responsible 
Officers

Andy Pritchard, Strategy & Development Manager 01452 
427014; andy.pritchard@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Main Consultees None

Purpose of Report To update members on the governments recently published 
resources and waste strategy 

Recommendations
It is recommended that the Committee notes the report and 
considers whether it wishes to respond to future consultations 
relating to the Resources and Waste Strategy.

Resource 
Implications None

1. Context

In December the Government published the Resources and Waste Strategy for England. It brings 
together a thorough direction of travel on public policy as it relates to resources and waste.

It makes a commitment to protect the environment for future generations and sets an ambition for 
the UK becoming a world leader in using resources efficiently and in reducing the amount of waste 
we create as a society. It emphasises the need to accelerate towards a more circular economy, which 
includes keeping resources in use for as long as possible and recovering and regenerating products 
or materials. The strategy also reflects and re-states a commitment to eliminating plastic waste 
within the next 25 years and elimination of all avoidable waste by 2050.

2. Strategy Overview

The strategy contains 8 chapters, each of which are summarised below:
 
Chapter 1: Sustainable production
Focusing on the resources lifecycle and emphasising that the most damaging impact of waste could 
be avoided through better production methods; by avoiding waste at the start of production 
processes and considering how materials can be reused and recycled at the end of life. This chapter 
sets out an overview of the general focus of the strategy as well as highlighting some specifics such 
as the introduction of a tax on plastic packaging which contains less than 30% recycled plastic and a 
strengthening of regulations on producers, building upon the ‘polluter pays’ principle.

Chapter 2: Helping consumers take more considered actions
This chapter is dedicated to consumer behaviour with a focus on the throwaway

Page 31

Agenda Item 9



society. Policy will now focus on product repair, reuse and remanufacture, with a specific emphasis 
on sustainable purchasing, providing better information to consumers, banning plastic products 
where alternatives exist, supporting the remanufacture of goods and leading by example through 
government purchasing decisions.

Chapter 3: Resource recovery and waste management
This chapter concentrates on recycling, landfill, energy from waste and hazardous waste, and is 
therefore of some significance to local authorities. It acknowledges the plateauing of recycling rates 
in England and also acknowledges a need to improve waste processing and recycling capacity in the 
UK. The strategy aims to improve recycling and resource recovery rates through a number of 
measures, including ensuring a consistent set of dry recyclable materials is collected from 
households and businesses and ensuring all households and appropriate businesses receive a weekly 
food waste collection. It also discusses delivering improvements in working arrangements between 
2-tier authorities. It encourages a greater use of secondary materials, and where waste is disposed of 
via EfW, this process should operate to a high level of efficiency.

Chapter 4: Tackling waste crime
This chapter looks at rogue operators who illegally dump or export waste as well as depriving the 
economy of tax income and harming the local environment. The strategy commits to reforming 
regulations, strengthening intelligence sharing, mandating the digital recording of waste 
movements, creating a joint unit for waste crime, increasing awareness and toughening penalties.

Chapter 5: Enough is enough: cutting down on food waste
The chapter cites that there is an estimated 10 million tonnes of food and drink wasted
post-farm gate annually in the UK. This is food worth around £20 billion. Excess food waste is 
economically and environmentally damaging. A fifth of UK greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions are 
associated with food and drink, mostly created during production (agriculture and manufacturing). 
The Government is committed to reducing food waste, reducing the UK carbon footprint, and 
meeting the UN Sustainable Development Goal of halving global food waste at consumer and retail 
levels by 2030. Government will work towards more effective redistribution of food before it can 
become waste, reporting of food waste by food businesses, introduction of food waste targets and 
redistribution obligations, promoting greater awareness and supporting cross sector collaboration.

Chapter 6: Global Britain: international leadership
This chapter recites the international and global impact of waste and resource management and the 
impact of pollution and environmental damage which requires a broad coalition of action. It 
specifically acknowledges the impact of plastic pollution, stating an aim to promote the objectives 
of this strategy globally and to drive international commitments, supporting developing nations in 
tackling waste and pollution.

Chapter 7: Research and innovation
Chapter 7 acknowledges the need for innovation in change, knowledge, data and technologies to 
support this strategy. The Government, has committed to supporting industry and academia to 
stimulate innovation through targeted investments and the development of standards

Chapter 8: Measuring progress: data, monitoring and evaluation
This chapter sets out a vision to adopt a new approach to data. Working with partners to develop a 
shared vision, it states a desire to move away from weight based targets and to instead adopt impact 
based targets including carbon and natural capital. Data capture in relation to waste and waste 
movements will increasingly be digital based.

3. Impacts on LAs

The strategy is clear on the need to address all stages of materials lifecycles, and contains 
a great number of ambitions impacting across supply chains from cradle to grave. All 

Page 32



measures identified will have an impact upon local authority services either directly or 
indirectly. Indirect impacts would include those benefits in terms of waste reduction and 
the banning of certain types of materials. Regulatory reform resulting in extended producer 
responsibility, product life extension and eco-design, materials choices, consumer 
attitudes, infrastructure development and innovation will all serve to reduce the pressures 
on local authorities and drive change where it can be most effectively delivered.

The strategy also contains a number of objectives (most of which will be subject to prior 
consultation) which will have a direct impact upon the design and delivery of local authority 
services, recognising the significant role played by these services in achieving improved 
resource efficiency. In brief, these are:

- Producers bearing greater cost (in the case of some materials, the full net cost) of 
managing their products at end of life, the scope of which will be subject to 
consultation and implemented for packaging from around 2023 onwards. This may 
have a significant impact in the future financing of waste collection and treatment 
services, and may encompass a greater range of materials (such as mattresses, 
textiles and tyres) in the longer term.

- Clarifying a duty, through amendment of regulations, for local authorities to 
undertake more re-use at HRCs, and undertaking a review of opening hours and 
charging policies, in particular for some small scale DIY wastes.

- Introducing a Deposit Return Scheme for single use drinks containers. Evidence 
where this has been introduced in other countries points to a significant drop in 
these materials entering the waste stream.

- Moving away from weight based measurements in the longer term, introducing new 
measures which better reflect the impact of waste.

- New legislation which will specify a core set of materials to be collected by all local 
authorities and waste operators. Consideration will also be given to which type of 
collection system would be most effective at preserving materials quality.

- Consideration of introducing non-binding performance indicators for the quality of 
materials collected and the minimum service standards required for this.

- By 2023, ensuring that every householder and appropriate business has a separate 
weekly food waste collection.

- The provision of free garden waste collections for households with gardens, taking 
into account the results of an assessment of new burdens.

- Improving urban recycling rates, for example working with local authorities and 
businesses to pilot shared domestic and business collection rounds.

- Reviewing the effectiveness of two-tier joint working, including the supporting 
systems of recycling credits and two-tier cost sharing.

- Assessing and removing barriers to making use of the heat produced when 
incinerating waste, and considering whether the introduction of a tax on incineration 
is necessary in the longer term to assist in delivering the ambitions of the strategy.

- Encouraging and facilitating a partnership approach amongst all parties involved in 
tackling waste crime, including fly-tipping, and assisting local authorities improve 
the quality of prosecution cases, making longer sentences more likely.

- Calling on local authorities to actively support WRAPs call to action on food waste.

4. Timescales

Page 33



The detail and scope of most strategy objectives are to be the subject of a series of 
consultations starting in the months ahead.

There will be three major consultations that DEFRA are intending to launch in early 2019:
- Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR)
- Deposit Return Scheme (DRS)
- Collection Systems

A consultation on the increase of charges for single-use carrier bags commenced in 
December.

The consultations will run for a minimum of eight weeks.

DEFRA will continue to lead on regulatory and policy review in the longer term, subject to 
the outcome of these and other consultations.

5. Officer advice

Some of the planned consultations are likely to have a significant impact on local 
authorities.  It is recommended that the Joint Waste Team develops draft responses to the 
consultations on EPR, DRS and collection systems when they are issued for agreement by 
the GJWC. 

Page 34



ACTION PLAN UPDATE 

Committee Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee 

Committee Date 12 February 2019

Significant 
Decision

No

Responsible 
Officers

Wayne Lewis, Head of Joint Waste Team, 01452 425504, 
wayne.lewis@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Main Consultees None

Purpose of Report The purpose of this report is to update members on progress of the 
2018/21 action plan.

Recommendations It is recommended that the Committee:

a)  Notes the progress of the current (2018/21) action plan;

b) Agrees a revised completion date of Oct 2019 for action 5.1 
within appendix 1; and,

c) Notes the high level risks and proposed mitigation measures set 
out in section 4 of this report.

Resource 
Implications

None.  The current revenue budget position for each of the partners is 
reported separately on today’s agenda.

1. Background

1.1 This report provides an update on progress up to January 2019 of the 2018/21 
action plan adopted by this committee in February 2018. 

1.2 A risk register is developed as part of the Joint Waste Committee (JWC) annual 
business plan and is managed by the Senior Managers Group (SMG). Risks 

Page 35

Agenda Item 10

mailto:wayne.lewis@gloucestershire.gov.uk


categorised as high by the SMG will be reported to the JWC. The current high 
level risks are set out in section 4.

2. Action plan 2018/21

2.1 Appendix 1 provides a summary of progress to 30th January 2019 against the 
2018/19 action plan. Good progress has been made. However, a revised 
completion date is needed for action 5.1 (a review of the JWC funding 
arrangements), as this project will now be part of a likely wider governance review 
following Cheltenham’s notice of its intention to leave the JWC. A revised date of 
October 2019 is proposed.

3. Risks

3.1 A risk register that identifies risks associated with the delivery of the JWC action 
plan (2018/21) is reviewed at each meeting of the SMG. Risks are scored according to 
their likelihood and also the impact that they might have should they occur. Mitigation 
measures are set out to reduce the effects of these risks. The highest scoring risks are 
reported to the joint committee. 

3.2 At quarter 3, one risk has been scored as “high” following the application of 
mitigation measures. This risk is set out in appendix 2 and relates to the cost increases 
on a number of Ubico contracts, which are currently forecast to be higher than 
budgeted (for Cheltenham B.C, Cotswold D.C, Gloucestershire C.C and Tewkesbury 
B.C). There are also shared concerns over the quality of the forecasting and reporting 
provided. Mitigation measures have been agreed in consultation with Ubico. Key 
measures now in place include additional financial support staff and the introduction of 
more regular and detailed budget reporting. 

4. Updates from Non-voting Partners

5.1 Gloucester City Council and Stroud District Council will be invited to provide a 
verbal update at the meeting.

Page 36



Appendix 2 ‐ High Level Risks

Last Reviewed: 21st Jan 2019

Raw Score
Impact prob. score Impact Prob. score 

R5 Financial
Ubico service costs 
increase beyond 
budgeted amounts.

Additional budget has to 
be found, meaning that 
other services may need 
to be cut back.

Hi Hi

Additional financial support recruited by Ubico. 
Monthly budget monitoring by JWT and Partner 
Councils as part of regular contract monitoring 
and financial reporting processes. Quarterly 
monitoring and reporting by ESPBs. Efforts made 
in setting 2018/19 contract sums to identify all 
known costs and pressures within the base 
budget. SMG meet with Ubico MD on financial 
forecasting and reporting.

Hi Hi

Mitigated Score 
Ref Area Risk Effect Mitigation planned 

P
age 37



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 Key
Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee Red Major Issues or delays.
Action Plan - 2018/21 Amber Minor issues or delays.

Green Proceeding to plan.

Project Affecting   Objective and /or Outcomes
Target 
completion 
date

Progress, Jan '19 RAG 
Status

1

1.1 Benchmarking review of current collection 
services. All

To understand the relative cost and performance of 
current waste and recycling services across 
Gloucestershire.

Oct-18

Completed. Benchmarking of current Gloucestershire 
services conducted as part of Cotswold District Council 
(CDC) collection service review. Results have been 
presented to SMG.

1.2 Development of future aligned collection 
options. All To understand the indicative cost and performance of a 

shortlist of future aligned collection service options. Mar-19

CDC service review included benchmarking of 
Gloucestershire services, modelling the relative cost and 
performance of different service options for CDC and 
consultation with local residents. This approach can now 
be applied for other districts when reviewing services.

1.3 Service Integration Routemap. All To develop a preferred option and pathway to service 
integration. Oct-19

Public consultation for CDC service review approved at 
June JWC and adopted as a broad template for any 
future such consultations. JWC considered CDC 
collection options appraisal outcomes and their wider 
applicability at its Oct meeting. The CDC approach 
provides a template for future service reviews. Some 
further work needed to agree timelines for future reviews.

1.4 Continue to encourage GCiC and SDC to join 
the JWC. All

To develop an overall strategy and optimised delivery 
framework for  efficient, effective and inclusive resource 
management in Gloucestershire.  

Ongoing Officer level meetings continue with Gloucester City. 
Further meeting planned with SDC. 

1.5 Review and renew the Gloucestershire Joint 
Municipal Waste Management Strategy. All To agree a vision, priorities and targets for municipal 

waste management in Gloucestershire beyond Mar 2020. Feb-20

Through ADEPT, the JWT has been involved in 
stakeholder consultation on the development of a new 
national waste and resources strategy. The strategy was 
published in December, and consultation will take place 
throughout 2019 and beyond. This will inform the 
development of our own revised JMWMS in 2020.

2

2.1 FODDC Depot Project FODDC
To produce a site assessment report and prepare a 
business case for a council owned Depot and Bulking 
Facility to be in place in readiness for 2024.

Mar-19 Site assessment report completed.  A business case is 
being developed by FoDDC. 

3

3.1
Procurement of a replacement composting 
contract for garden waste collected in 
Gloucestershire.

All New contract to compost garden waste. Jan-20 Procurement project to commence Jun 2019 with project 
planning underway.

3.2 Mobilisation of FoDDC street cleaning 
contract. FoDDC New contract for street cleaning within FoDDC. Aug-18

Contract awarded to Biffa following Cabinet authorisation 
on 13 September. Vehicles are on order. Contract to start 
April 2019. Mobilisation meetings in progress. 

3.3 Refuse and garden waste vehicle 
procurement. FODDC New vehicles in line with contract for 2018-2024. Jul-18 Completed. Vehicles delivered and operational. 

Strategic Direction

Procurement 

Infrastructure

P
age 39



Green Proceeding to plan.

3.4 Procurement of waste transfer from the north, 
east and west of county. GCC To ensure adequate long term waste transfer is in place 

to support FoD, TBC, CBC & CDC. Mar-19
 Contract award letters issued in Dec 2018. 10 day stand-
still period has elapsed and contracts are now being 
finalised.

3.5.1 Purchase HRC mobile compactors. GCC To replace compactors at Hempsted and Pyke HRCs. Sep-18 Installation at Pyke Quarry and Hempsted completed.

3.5.2 Purchase HRC mobile compactors. GCC To replace compactors at Oak Quarry and Wingmoor 
HRCs. Jun-19 Oak Quarry works to commence in March and Wingmoor 

Farm in June. 

3.6 Food waste contract extension/procurement. GCC To ensure that a food waste recycling contract remains in 
place beyond the end of current contract term. Sep-19

Completed - Food waste contract extended until 30th 
Sept 2021.  Extension to IVC contract to be progessed 
Spring 2019 to cover short period when CDC service 
changes (to separate food waste collection) in 
Oct/Nov19.

3.7 Reach decision on contract extensions for 
sale of recyclable materials from HRC sites. GCC To ensure continued arrangements for HRC recyclate 

sales. Aug-20 Decision to be taken in Jun 2020

3.8 Dry recycling material transfer 
extension/procurement. TBC

To ensure that there are adequate arrangements in place 
for the transfer of mixed dry recycling to the MRF beyond 
the end of the current contract term.

Apr-19 Project complete and an extension to the existing 
arrangement has been agreed. 

3.9
Support CBC and TBC to develop costs and 
delivery plan for possible direct delivery of 
waste to Javelin park

CBC & TBC Cost evaluation and potential mobilisation exercise Mar-19
Estimated costs of direct delivery developed and 
submitted to GCC. Discussions regarding waste transfer 
and direct delivery now completed.

3.10 Support GCC in developing a tipping away 
policy for agreement with district councils GCC

A tipping away policy that can be used to compensate 
WCAs that are required to tip waste beyond their district 
boundaries.

Mar-19

GCC Cabinet agreed to issue a draft policy for 
consultation in Oct 2018. This consultation has now 
closed and will be reviewed prior to a decision for 
adoption in March/April 2019.

4

4.1 Review options for dewatering and recycling 
street sweepings and gulley waste. All To assess and, if economically viable, arrange recycling 

of street sweepings and gulley waste.   Mar-20

Street sweepings are classed as Contract Waste under 
the Residual Waste Treatment Contract with UBB 
(Javelin Park). Discussion underway with UBB on 
possible solutions.

4.2
To review and establish how new 
developments that cross boundaries will be 
serviced.

CBC/TBC

To undertake a business case for a consistent service in 
the JCS area around Cheltenham, which crosses district 
boundaries.  To ensure that the preferred collection 
service is aligned with wider GJWC work on service 
integration.

Oct-19 Discussion underway with the planners to understand 
development timescales. 

4.3 CBC Bring Site Review CBC
To assess the impact of the improved kerbside recycling 
service on bring site usage and identify any areas of 
improvement/efficiency.

Jul-18

Analysis completed on performance and costs of CBC 
bring sites and HRC following implementation of the 
kerbside recycling service redesign. The work has been 
provided to CBC for review.

4.4 Alignment of street cleaning functions with 
waste and recycling collections. CBC To improve the efficiency of street cleansing in the 

borough. Apr-19

Work has not yet commenced. Agreed at Dec 2018 
GJWC meeting to carry this action forward into 2019/20 
action plan. Given CBC's impending departure from the 
GJWC, this project will pass from the JWT to CBC.

Service Development, Efficiency and Improvement

P
age 40



Green Proceeding to plan.

4.5

Support CDC in appraising the options 
available for waste and recycling service 
improvement in 2019 when the current 
vehicles reach their end of life.

CDC

To assess the collection options available to CDC, so that 
the service remains affordable, meets customer 
expectations and achieves high levels of recycling. To 
ensure that the preferred collection service is aligned with 
wider GJWC work on service integration.

Mar-19

A public consultation exercise and optons appraisal have 
been completed and shared with the JWC.  Findings 
reported to CDC Cabinet (3rd Dec) and Council (11th 
Dec). Options 2a (fortnightly kerbside sort recycling, 
fortnightly residual, fortnightly garden (with winter shut-
down) and weekly food waste) supported by Cabinet and 
Council and will be introduced in autumn 2019. 

4.6 Review HRCs to explore service efficiency 
opportunities. GCC & CBC

To review opening hours and charging policies at HRCs 
in order to identify efficiency savings contributing to 
GCC's wider savings programme.

Oct-18

Analysis completed on performance of CBC HRC 
following implementation of the kerbside recycling service 
redesign, which has been provided to CBC for review. 
Savings options from reduced opening hours at GCC 
HRCs have been completed. LCM approval obtained for 
revised HRC opening hours and one day closure per site. 
New opening hours commenced 28th Oct.

4.7 Review of HRC Contract performance. GCC
To review the performance of the HRC Service Contract 
following its first full year of operation and assess 
whether it remains value for money.

Mar-19

A formal review has not yet started due to resource 
constraints within the Joint Waste and GCC Commercial 
Services teams. A revised completion date of Mar 2019 
agreed at Jun GJWC meeting. Regular and ongoing 
performance and budget monitoring remains in place.

4.8 Residual waste composition analysis. GCC Four-season analysis of kerbside and HRC residual 
waste commencing summer 2018. Apr-19

First and second phases of fieldwork completed in July 
2018 and November 2018. Phase three (winter) fieldwork 
commenced in January 2019.

4.9
Redirect a proportion of waste to Wingmoor 
Farm landfill in order to prolong life of 
Hempsted landfill.

GCC To minimise the amount of waste disposal at Hempsted. Ongoing
Regular monitoring of tonnages delivered to Hempsted. 
Enovert has provided additional landfill capaicty at 
Hempsted for short term until EfW commissioning.

4.10 Mobilisation of Javelin Park Energy from 
Waste contract. GCC To ensure that the contract is mobilised on time and in 

line with the contract requirements. Jul-19
Work is ongoing, with regular meetings set up between 
UBB, the project team, district councils and contractors to 
plan and deliver a smooth mobilisation.

4.11 Mobilisation of HRC recyclable material sales 
contracts. GCC To have contracts in place for the recycling of materials 

collected at HRCs. Apr-18 Completed. Wood recycling contract has been relet due 
to termination of previous contract.

4.12
Work with Ubico to undertake a review of the 
discretionary trade waste service to ensure it 
is operating on a viable commercial level.

TBC & CBC Present review findings to authorities and gain support for 
service improvements. Oct-19

Independent review completed by APSE and considered 
by SMG. Future strategy yet to be agreed and as a result 
of residual waste transfer work, completion of this action 
has been delayed. Agreed at Dec 18 GJWC meeting to 
carry across into 2019/20 action plan. 

4.13 Investigate the collection of WEEE (and other 
possible recyclables) at the kerbside. TBC Investigate the options for kerbside collection with a view 

to increasing the capture rate of WEEE. Mar-19

The RCV fleet has been assessed for the suitability of 
fitting collection cages and currently awaiting prices. 
Recycling outlets for the materials need to be sought then 
an options appraisal completed of the cost and likely 
benefits for providing the additional recycling options. If 
viable, roll out would be after refuse services start taking 
waste to Javelin Park due to the location of the under 
chassis collection cages. 

P
age 41



Green Proceeding to plan.

4.14 Street cleaning operational review. TBC To improve the effectiveness of street cleansing in the 
borough. Mar-19

A review of the current service is underway with Ubico. 
Draft schedules are being drawn up for the sweeper 
routes. Litter picking and bin emptying will be reviewed 
next. 

4.15 Bulky waste collection service review. TBC

To consider service options with the aim of improving 
service levels and reducing waste to landfill following an 
audit of the service and assist in implementing the 
recommendations. 

Mar-19

Some work is underway internally at TBC as the 
collection vehicle is on occasion struggling to meet the 
demand of both bulky collections and bin deliveries 
combined. JWT officers will be required to support this. 

5

5.1 Review JWC funding arrangements. All
To ensure that funding arrangements remain sufficient to 
deliver JWC objectives and are shared equitably by the 
partner councils. 

Mar-19

Revised completion date of Mar 19 agreed at Jun GJWC 
meeting. Wider review now needed given CBC's planned 
exit from the GJWC. Revised completion date of Oct 19 
sought

5.2 Review JWT staffing structure. All To ensure sufficient resources are in place to support 
partner councils and deliver JWC objectives. Ongoing

Recruitment of vacant WDA roles soon to get underway. 
Wider changes will be subject to findings of a wider 
review of the GJWC to take place during 2019.

5.3 Javelin Park project handover GCC
To ensure an efficient transfer of responsibility for the 
contract from the commercial/procurement team to the 
JWT. 

Mar-19 Ongoing, with regular meetings taking place between the 
Commercial and Joint Waste teams.

6

6.1
Communications campaign highlighting the 
importance of separating the right materials 
for recycling.

All Maintaining high quality recyclable materials and 
minimising contamination. Mar-19

CBC has publicised the need for pre-sorting since 1st 
April, with the use of bin tags and the back page of the 
'Your Guide'. CDC beginning a promotion on the need for 
pre-sorting in order to provide good quality recycling. 
TBC produces the annual recycling calendar which 
includes what should and should not be included in all the 
recyclnig services. Recycling communications is also a 
standard feature in the triannual Borough News 
magazine. 

6.2 Communications campaign to promote food 
waste prevention and recycling. All

Encourage residents to reduce food waste, maintain high 
capture rates of food waste for recycling and minimise 
the amount of food waste within the residual waste 
stream.

Mar-19
First and second phase of activity completed during 
football world cup and recycle week.  Food waste was the 
main focus of the Christmas campaign.

6.3 Communications campaign to promote the 
reduction and recycling of plastic waste. All

Encourage residents to reduce consumption of single-use 
plastics, maintain high capture rates of plastic for 
recycling and minimise the amount of plastic materials 
within the residual waste stream.

Mar-19

Recycling of plastic bottles  promoted through the 
Recycle for Gloucestershire "Waste Free Wednesdays" 
articles. It was also promoted as part of the Recycle for 
Gloucestershire World Cup campaign. The National 
Recycle Week in September also focused on plastics.

6.4 Javelin Park communications. GCC To ensure consistent and clear communications relating 
to the construction and operation of the facility. Ongoing

Communications planning with UBB is underway. A 
number of reactive communications by GCC also 
continue to be supported.

6.5 Continued promotion of real nappies. GCC
To provide information and support on the use of 
reusable nappies and to promote the uptake of the 
Gloucestershire Real Nappy voucher scheme.

Ongoing New contract established for Resource Futures to 
continue the programme.

6.6 Continued support for home and community 
composting. GCC

To provide information and support on home and 
community composting and continue to make home 
composting bins available for purchase by 
Gloucestershire residents.

Ongoing Compost Awareness week was promoted in May. 
Discounted compost bin support still available.

Communications and Behavioural Change

Organisational / Systems

P
age 42



Green Proceeding to plan.

6.7 Promote garden waste collection schemes in 
all districts.

CDC, CBC, 
FoDDC & TBC

To promote and sustain uptake in garden waste 
collection services. Jun-18 Promotions of garden waste service for CDC,CBC, 

FODDC and TBC have been completed.

6.8 To build on the Love Your Forest anti-litter 
campaign. FoDDC

To develop and deliver an action plan to work with the 
community to change behaviour and reduce littering 
across the district. Wherever possible, to share and apply 
learning across the partnership.

Ongoing

Trashconverter trailer has attended public events and 
school visits.  Ten advertorials in the Forest Review (w/c 
25 June-w/c 27 August) promoting different aspects of 
the campaign /highlighting specific litter issues.  LYF car 
window sticker competition has ended.  Over 500 unique 
registration plates spotted this year.  Seventeen Scout 
groups (plus 2 Brownies) have now undertaken litter 
picks/received a talk. More are planned for spring 2019.  
Litter sculptures installed at local parks and 
PedalABikeAway.  A report on outcomes of the campaign 
was launched at a reception at the House of Commons in 
November.  Planning is now underway for next year’s 
campaign.  

7

7.1
Monitoring, reporting and continuous review 
of health and safety policy and practices of 
GJWC contractors and service providers.

ALL To ensure safe working practices are in place and to 
establish common processes and best practice. Ongoing

Health & Safety is monitored on a ongoing basis as part 
of the contract management for each of the authorities. 
H&S is a standing item for all contractor meetings and the 
team continually assesses the numbers and detail of lost 
time, non lost time and near miss incidents. A report on 
2018/19 activity was presented to the Jun 2018 GJWC 
meeting.

Safety, Health and Environmental impact of operations

P
age 43



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Management Accounts Monitoring Report 2018/19

Committee Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee 

Committee Date  12 February 2019

Significant 
Decision

No

Responsible 
Officers

Wayne Lewis, Head of Gloucestershire Joint Waste Team 
(01452 425504),  wayne.lewis@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Main Consultees None

Purpose of Report The report sets out:

 The financial performance of the individual authorities within 
the JWC against their approved annual budget for the first 8 
months of the current financial year;  

 The combined position across authorities;
 An indicative draft 2019/20 Revenue Budget for the whole 

partnership.

Recommendations It is recommended that the Committee:
a) Notes the financial performance as contained in this report.
b) Notes the indicative draft 2019/20 Revenue Budget, 

acknowledging that this may change as partner authority 
budgets are finalised.

Resource 
Implications

None
 

1. Background 

1.1.When the Joint Waste Committee was formed it was agreed that budget setting and 
service charges are retained decisions for the individual authorities within the partnership.
  

1.2.The operational budgets for waste disposal, waste collection and street cleaning remain 
with their respective authority and are managed with the support of officers within the Joint 
Waste Team.

  
1.3.The majority of the operational budget consists of payments to contractors: 

Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) contracts include Enovert for waste disposal and 
the local authority company Ubico for Household Recycling Centres; Forest of Dean 
District Council (FODDC) contracts include Biffa for waste collection and street cleaning; 
whilst Cheltenham Borough Council (CBC), Cotswold District Council (CDC) and 

Page 45

Agenda Item 11



Tewkesbury Borough Council (TBC) waste collection and street cleaning services are 
provided by Ubico.

1.4.As GCC is the Administering Authority for the Joint Waste Committee, budgets associated 
with supporting the Joint Waste Committee are reported within their figures.  Staffing costs 
for the Joint Waste Team are the largest element of this budget.  These are transferred 
from each partner organisation’s budget to the Administering Authority on a quarterly basis.

2. Current Financial Position

2.1.The combined revenue budget for GCC, CBC, CDC, FODDC and TBC is shown at 
Appendix 1.  The current forecast year end revenue position is an overspend of £193,000 
(0.48% of the net budget).  This is based on monitoring forecasts made in December and 
actual financial transactions to the end of November 2018.

3. Waste Disposal Costs

3.1.The Gloucestershire County Council revenue budget at Appendix 2 shows the net forecast 
budget position for waste disposal is a balanced position.

4. Waste Collection Costs

4.1.Cheltenham Borough Council (CBC)

4.1.1. CBC revenue budget at appendix 3 forecasts an overspend of £163,000 across the 
services included within this report.

4.1.2. Green Waste income is anticipated to over achieve the budget by £55,000 due to 
higher than budgeted volume of subscriptions.

4.1.3. Recycling Centres income is anticipated to have a shortfall of £22,000, this is a result 
of a lower than expected volume of materials received at the Swindon Road recycling 
centre.

4.1.4. Recycling Collection Schemes income is anticipated to generate a surplus of 
£130,000 due to an increase in volume of recycling at the kerbside.

4.1.5. Bulking of Recyclables service is forecasting an overspend £129,000. Ubico Ltd is 
forecasting overspend of £80,000 on this service and wood disposal costs are 
anticipated to be £50,000 higher than budgeted.
 

4.1.6. Trade Waste income is anticipated to have a shortfall of £37,000; this shortfall is due 
to ad-hoc trade refuse and recycling customers purchasing a lower volume of 
blue/white/orange bags than budgeted.
 

4.1.7. Ubico Ltd is forecasting an overspend of £320,000 across the waste and recycling 
services that it delivers for CBC. There remains uncertainty regarding the allocation 
of Ubico’s costs amongst the different services, current overspend forecasts are 
significant in the following services: Recycling Centres, Bulking of Recyclables and 
Street Cleaning.

4.2. .Cotswold District Council (CDC)

4.2.1. CDC’s revenue budget at Appendix 4 shows a forecast outturn overspend of 
£54,000. 

 

Page 46



4.2.2. The main reason for this is increased costs on vehicle maintenance and vehicle hire 
because of the older fleet, which is due for replacement in 2019.  The current 
forecast provisionally estimates £50,000 on household waste collection vehicles plus 
£100,000 on recycling vehicles.  The situation continues to be monitored.

 
4.2.3. Income from garden waste sales is forecast to be £96,000 higher than anticipated 

due to increased take up of the scheme.
 

4.3.Forest of Dean District Council (FODDC)

4.3.1. FODDC at Appendix 5 currently forecasts a balanced budget.

4.3.2. FODDC reported a £37,000 overspend in the Quarter 2 monitoring report due to a 
shortfall in recycling income.  FODDC's cabinet members made a decision to adjust 
the budgets to reflect this by using savings from other services within the Council, the 
overall waste and recycling budgets have therefore increased by £37,000 compared to 
the management report to 30/9/18 and are forecasting to be able to stay within this 
budget.

4.4.Tewkesbury Borough Council (TBC)

4.4.1. TBC revenue budget at Appendix 6 forecasts an underspend of £24,000.

4.4.2. Currently the Ubico contract is predicted to be £82,000 overspent by the end of the 
year.  The main reason for this is due to employment costs with additional spend on 
agency staff to cover both long and short term sickness absence, which has been 
higher than expected.

4.4.3. There is a £74,000 gain from the garden waste service, where the change in the 
operation of the service has resulted in an increase in the income received, higher than 
expected in the budget.

4.4.4. Income from the bulky waste collection service is predicted to be £27,000 higher 
than budget.

4.4.5. This means the overall projection at this stage in the year is a surplus of circa 
£24,000.

4.4.6. In recent days, Ubico have updated their full year forecast for the contract sum which 
now reflects an expected overspend of £230,000, an increase of £150,000 on the 
figures contained within this report. Should this overspend be realised, it is likely that 
there will be an overall overspend of circa £125,000 on the services.

5. Draft 2019/20 Revenue Budget

5.1. Appendix 7 shows the draft 2019/20 Revenue Budget summary for the whole partnership. 
These are indicative figures only. The partners are currently in the process of setting 
budgets and the figures may change as the budget setting progresses, subject to member 
approval.

Page 47



Appendix 1 – Total Revenue Budget Summary across all JWC partners

Head of Service: Wayne Lewis Analysis of progress to: 30/11/2018

Budget Area Total Profiled Budget Actual Variance Forecast Forecast Year
Budget To Date To Date To Date Outturn End Variance
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Joint Waste Management Unit
  Gross Expenditure 365 299 240 -59 320 -45
  Income -365 -183 -155 28 -320 45
  Net Expenditure 0 116 85 -31 0 0
TOTAL - GJWP 0 116 85 -31 0 0

Waste Disposal
Royalty Payments -710 -490 -397 93 -650 60
WCA Landfill and Composting
  Gross Expenditure 17,053 12,013 9,668 -2,345 16,649 -404
  Income -24 -24 -24 0 -24 0
  Net Expenditure 17,029 11,989 9,644 -2,345 16,625 -404
Household Recycling Centres
  Gross Expenditure 5,317 3,804 3,522 -282 5,487 170
  Income -524 -420 -455 -35 -558 -34
  Net Expenditure 4,793 3,384 3,067 -317 4,929 136
Trade Waste -5 0 -5 -5 -5 0
Recycling Credits 4,267 2,594 2,067 -527 4,546 279
Tipping Away 28 0 30 30 30 2
Closed Landfill Sites 29 14 18 4 31 2
WCA Fridges and TVs 78 54 46 -8 76 -2
Management Costs
  Gross Expenditure 4 0 4 4 4 0
  Income -8 0 0 0 -8 0
  Net Expenditure -4 0 4 4 -4 0
Waste Projects
  Gross Expenditure 50 34 52 18 72 22
  Income 0 0 0 0 0 0
  Net Expenditure 50 34 52 18 72 22
Marketing Promotions - Waste 50 32 36 4 47 -3
TOTAL - WASTE DISPOSAL 25,605 17,611 14,562 -3,049 25,697 92

Revenue Budget Summary - Gloucestershire Joint Waste Partnership 2018/19

  

Page 48



Budget Area Total Profiled Budget Actual Variance Forecast Forecast Year
Budget To Date To Date To Date Outturn End Variance
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Waste Collection 0
Household Waste 4,723 3,283 3,345 62 4,785 62
Bulky Household Waste
  Gross Expenditure 107 71 82 11 127 20
  Income -151 -100 -143 -43 -197 -46
  Net Expenditure -44 -29 -61 -32 -70 -26
Food/Organic Waste
  Gross Expenditure 476 318 305 -13 454 -22
  Income 0 0 0 0 0 0
  Net Expenditure 476 318 305 -13 454 -22
Green Waste
  Gross Expenditure 2,656 1,919 1,977 58 2,718 62
  Income -2,522 -2,308 -2,455 -147 -2,747 -225
  Net Expenditure 134 -389 -478 -89 -29 -163
Recycling Centres
  Gross Expenditure 466 311 305 -6 564 98
  Income -181 -121 -107 14 -159 22
  Net Expenditure 285 190 198 8 405 120
Bring Sites
  Gross Expenditure 315 210 208 -2 311 -4
  Income -81 -54 -47 7 -76 5
  Net Expenditure 234 156 161 5 235 1
Recycling Collection Schemes
  Gross Expenditure 6,552 4,556 4,538 -18 6,677 125
  Income -2,726 -1,730 -1,751 -21 -2,854 -128
  Net Expenditure 3,826 2,826 2,787 -39 3,823 -3
Bulking of Recyclables
  Gross Expenditure 388 259 251 -8 508 120
  Income -590 -393 -342 51 -581 9
  Net Expenditure -202 -134 -91 43 -73 129
Trade Waste
  Gross Expenditure 914 609 595 -14 908 -6
  Income -918 -678 -570 108 -887 31
  Net Expenditure -4 -69 25 94 21 25
Recycling Schemes Marketing 90 50 15 -35 74 -16
TOTAL - WASTE COLLECTION 9,518 6,202 6,206 4 9,625 107

Street Cleaning 2,955 2,061 2,042 -19 3,041 86

Central Costs
Central Support Costs 849 0 0 0 849 0
JWT Staffing Costs 664 350 278 -72 572 -92
Depreciation 499 336 336 0 499 0
TOTAL - CENTRAL COSTS 2,012 686 614 -72 1,920 -92

TOTAL NET EXPENDITURE 40,090 26,676 23,509 -3,167 40,283 193

Page 49



Appendix 2 – Gloucestershire County Council Revenue Budget Summary

Partner: Gloucestershire County Council Analysis of progress to: 30/11/2018

Budget Area Total Profiled Budget Actual Variance Forecast Forecast Year
Budget To Date To Date To Date Outturn End Variance
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Joint Waste Management Unit
  Gross Expenditure 365 299 240 -59 320 -45
  Income -365 -183 -155 28 -320 45
  Net Expenditure 0 116 85 -31 0 0
TOTAL - GJWP 0 116 85 -31 0 0

Waste Disposal
Royalty Payments -710 -490 -397 93 -650 60
WCA Landfill and Composting
  Gross Expenditure 17,053 12,013 9,668 -2,345 16,649 -404
  Income -24 -24 -24 0 -24 0
  Net Expenditure 17,029 11,989 9,644 -2,345 16,625 -404
Household Recycling Centres 0
  Gross Expenditure 5,317 3,804 3,522 -282 5,487 170
  Income -524 -420 -455 -35 -558 -34
  Net Expenditure 4,793 3,384 3,067 -317 4,929 136
Trade Waste -5 0 -5 -5 -5 0
Recycling Credits 4,267 2,594 2,067 -527 4,546 279
Tipping Away 28 0 30 30 30 2
Closed Landfill Sites 29 14 18 4 31 2
WCA Fridges and TVs 78 54 46 -8 76 -2
Management Costs
  Gross Expenditure 4 0 4 4 4 0
  Income -8 0 0 0 -8 0
  Net Expenditure -4 0 4 4 -4 0
Waste Projects
  Gross Expenditure 50 34 52 18 72 22
  Income 0 0 0
  Net Expenditure 50 34 52 18 72 22
Marketing Promotions - Waste 50 32 36 4 47 -3
TOTAL - WASTE DISPOSAL 25,605 17,611 14,562 -3,049 25,697 92

Central Costs
Central Support Costs 431 0 0 0 431 0
JWT Staffing Costs 334 167 118 -49 242 -92
TOTAL - CENTRAL COSTS 765 167 118 -49 673 -92

TOTAL NET EXPENDITURE 26,370 17,894 14,765 -3,129 26,370 0

Revenue Budget Summary - Gloucestershire Joint Waste Partnership 2018/19

 

Page 50



Appendix 3 – Cheltenham Borough Council Revenue Budget Summary

Partner: Cheltenham Borough Council Analysis of progress to: 30/11/2018

Budget Area Total Profiled Budget Actual Variance Forecast Forecast Year
Budget To Date To Date To Date Outturn End Variance
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Waste Collection
Household Waste 1,192 794 788 -6 1,174 -18
Bulky Household Waste
  Gross Expenditure 27 18 23 5 47 20
  Income -48 -32 -44 -12 -67 -19
  Net Expenditure -21 -14 -21 -7 -20 1
Green Waste
  Gross Expenditure 380 253 253 0 386 6
  Income -625 -417 -388 29 -680 -55
  Net Expenditure -245 -164 -135 29 -294 -49
Recycling Centres
  Gross Expenditure 466 311 305 -6 564 98
  Income -181 -121 -107 14 -159 22
  Net Expenditure 285 190 198 8 405 120
Bring Sites
  Gross Expenditure 173 115 115 0 169 -4
  Income -66 -44 -37 7 -61 5
  Net Expenditure 107 71 78 7 108 1
Recycling Collection Schemes
  Gross Expenditure 2,217 1,478 1,451 -27 2,218 1
  Income -405 -270 -317 -47 -535 -130
  Net Expenditure 1,812 1,208 1,134 -74 1,683 -129
Bulking of Recyclables
  Gross Expenditure 388 259 251 -8 508 120
  Income -590 -393 -342 51 -581 9
  Net Expenditure -202 -134 -91 43 -73 129
Trade Waste
  Gross Expenditure 605 403 394 -9 606 1
  Income -637 -425 -313 112 -600 37
  Net Expenditure -32 -22 81 103 6 38
Recycling Schemes Marketing 23 15 4 -11 7 -16
TOTAL - WASTE COLLECTION 2,919 1,944 2,036 92 2,996 77

Street Cleaning 836 557 555 -2 922 86

Central Costs
Central Support Costs 418 0 0 0 418 0
JWT Staffing Costs 61 41 21 -20 61 0
Depreciation 71 71 71 0 71 0
TOTAL - CENTRAL COSTS 550 112 92 -20 550 0

TOTAL NET EXPENDITURE 4,305 2,613 2,683 70 4,468 163

Revenue Budget Summary - Gloucestershire Joint Waste Partnership 2018/19

Page 51



Appendix 4 – Cotswold District Council

Partner: Cotswold District Council Analysis of progress to: 30/11/2018

Budget Area Total Profiled Budget Actual Variance Forecast Forecast Year
Budget To Date To Date To Date Outturn End Variance
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Waste Collection
Household Waste 1,176 874 917 43 1,226 50
Bulky Household Waste
  Gross Expenditure 39 26 32 6 39 0
  Income -36 -24 -36 -12 -36 0
  Net Expenditure 3 2 -4 -6 3 0
Green Waste
  Gross Expenditure 1,414 1,059 1,070 11 1,414 0
  Income -627 -622 -723 -101 -723 -96
  Net Expenditure 787 437 347 -90 691 -96
Recycling Collection Schemes
  Gross Expenditure 1,796 1,322 1,312 -10 1,896 100
  Income -1,035 -619 -626 -7 -1,035 0
  Net Expenditure 761 703 686 -17 861 100
Recycling Schemes Marketing 13 8 1 -7 13 0
TOTAL - WASTE COLLECTION 2,740 2,024 1,947 -77 2,794 54

Street Cleaning 1,085 814 816 2 1,085 0

Central Costs
Central Support Costs 0 0 0 0 0 0
JWT Staffing Costs 50 33 28 -5 50 0
Depreciation 31 0 0 0 31 0
TOTAL - CENTRAL COSTS 81 33 28 -5 81 0

TOTAL NET EXPENDITURE 3,906 2,871 2,791 -80 3,960 54

Revenue Budget Summary - Gloucestershire Joint Waste Partnership 2018/19

Page 52



Appendix 5 – Forest of Dean District Council Revenue Budget Summary

Partner: Forest of Dean District Council Analysis of progress to: 30/11/2018

Budget Area Total Profiled Budget Actual Variance Forecast Forecast Year
Budget To Date To Date To Date Outturn End Variance
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Waste Collection
Household Waste 1,472 1,027 1,032 5 1,472 0
Bulky Household Waste
  Gross Expenditure 41 27 27 0 41 0
  Income -38 -25 -26 -1 -38 0
  Net Expenditure 3 2 1 -1 3 0
Food/Organic Waste
  Gross Expenditure 3 3 4 1 3 0
  Income 0 0 0
  Net Expenditure 3 3 4 1 3 0
Green Waste
  Gross Expenditure 437 324 333 9 437 0
  Income -572 -572 -572 0 -572 0
  Net Expenditure -135 -248 -239 9 -135 0
Bring Sites
  Gross Expenditure 142 95 93 -2 142 0
  Income -15 -10 -10 0 -15 0
  Net Expenditure 127 85 83 -2 127 0
Recycling Collection Schemes 0
  Gross Expenditure 1,271 910 913 3 1,271 0
  Income -631 -421 -390 31 -631 0
  Net Expenditure 640 489 523 34 640 0
Recycling Schemes Marketing 39 26 9 -17 39 0
TOTAL - WASTE COLLECTION 2,149 1,384 1,413 29 2,149 0

Street Cleaning 556 371 353 -18 556 0

Central Costs
Central Support Costs 0 0 0 0 0 0
JWT Staffing Costs 139 69 71 2 139 0
Depreciation 397 265 265 0 397 0
TOTAL - CENTRAL COSTS 536 334 336 2 536 0

TOTAL NET EXPENDITURE 3,241 2,089 2,102 13 3,241 0

Revenue Budget Summary - Gloucestershire Joint Waste Partnership 2018/19

Page 53



Appendix 6 – Tewkesbury Borough Council Revenue Budget Summary

Partner: Tewkesbury Borough Council Analysis of progress to: 30/11/2018

2 3 4 5 6
Budget Area Total Profiled Budget Actual Variance Forecast Forecast Year

Budget To Date To Date To Date Outturn End Variance
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Waste Collection
Household Waste 883 588 608 20 913 30
Bulky Household Waste
  Gross Expenditure 0 0
  Income -29 -19 -37 -18 -56 -27
  Net Expenditure -29 -19 -37 -18 -56 -27
Food/Organic Waste
  Gross Expenditure 473 315 301 -14 451 -22
  Income 0 0
  Net Expenditure 473 315 301 -14 451 -22
Green Waste
  Gross Expenditure 425 283 321 38 481 56
  Income -698 -697 -772 -75 -772 -74
  Net Expenditure -273 -414 -451 -37 -291 -18
Recycling Collection Schemes 0
  Gross Expenditure 1,268 846 862 16 1,292 24
  Income -655 -420 -418 2 -653 2
  Net Expenditure 613 426 444 18 639 26
Trade Waste
  Gross Expenditure 309 206 201 -5 302 -7
  Income -281 -253 -257 -4 -287 -6
  Net Expenditure 28 -47 -56 -9 15 -13
Recycling Schemes Marketing 15 1 1 0 15 0
TOTAL - WASTE COLLECTION 1,710 850 810 -40 1,686 -24

Street Cleaning 478 319 318 -1 478 0

Central Costs
Central Support Costs 0 0 0 0 0 0
JWT Staffing Costs 80 40 40 0 80 0
TOTAL - CENTRAL COSTS 80 40 40 0 80 0

TOTAL NET EXPENDITURE 2,268 1,209 1,168 -41 2,244 -24

Revenue Budget Summary - Gloucestershire Joint Waste Partnership 2018/19

Page 54



Appendix 7 - Draft 2019/20 Revenue Budget

Revenue Budget Summary - Gloucestershire Joint Waste 
Partnership

Indicative 2019/20 Budget
 

Head of Service: Wayne Lewis
 

  
Budget Area Total

 Budget
 £'000
  

Joint Waste Management Unit  
  Gross Expenditure 324
  Income -324
  Net Expenditure 0
TOTAL - GJWP 0
  
Waste Disposal  
Royalty Payments -290
Waste Treatment 20,218
Household Recycling Centres  
  Gross Expenditure 3,095
  Income -524
  Net Expenditure 2,571
Recycling Credits 4,267
Bulking, Haulage & Tipping Away  
  Gross Expenditure 2,271
  Income -50
  Net Expenditure 2,221
Closed Landfill Sites 29
Management Costs  
  Gross Expenditure 4
  Income -8
  Net Expenditure -4
Waste Projects 50
Marketing Promotions - Waste 50
TOTAL - WASTE DISPOSAL 29,112
 

 

Page 55



Waste Collection  
Household Waste 5,104
Bulky Household Waste  
  Gross Expenditure 108
  Income -174
  Net Expenditure -66
Food/Organic Waste  
  Gross Expenditure 496
  Income 0
  Net Expenditure 496
Green Waste  
  Gross Expenditure 2,870
  Income -2,789
  Net Expenditure 81
Recycling Centres  
  Gross Expenditure 458
  Income -163
  Net Expenditure 295
Bring Sites  
  Gross Expenditure 326
  Income -77
  Net Expenditure 249
Recycling Collection Schemes  
  Gross Expenditure 7,466
  Income -2,903
  Net Expenditure 4,563
Bulking of Recyclables  
  Gross Expenditure 388
  Income -580
  Net Expenditure -192
Trade Waste  
  Gross Expenditure 922
  Income -931
  Net Expenditure -9
Recycling Schemes Marketing 88
TOTAL - WASTE COLLECTION 10,609
  
Street Cleaning 3,085
  
Central Costs  
Central Support Costs/Internal Client Teams 549
JWT Staffing Costs 673
Depreciation 553
TOTAL - CENTRAL COSTS 1,775
  
TOTAL NET EXPENDITURE 44,581

Page 56



Performance Monitoring Report 

Committee Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee 

Committee Date 12 February 2019

Significant 
Decision No

Responsible 
Officers

Andy Pritchard, Strategy and Development Manager 01452 
427014; andy.pritchard@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Main Consultees None

Purpose of Report To update members on forecast performance for the financial 
year 2018/19.

Recommendations It is recommended that the Committee notes the report.

Resource 
Implications None

1. Background 
1.1 This report sets out the forecast performance of the Gloucestershire Councils for 

2018/19, setting out how much waste is treated, the levels of recycling and 
composting achieved and individual councils performance against strategy targets.

2. Performance
2.1. Figure 1 shows the total waste arisings across the county, total recycling (including 

reuse, recycling, AD and composting) and landfill from 2009/10 to the current year.  

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
100,000

120,000

140,000

160,000

180,000

200,000

220,000

240,000

260,000

280,000

300,000

Recycling - All Landfilled Total waste

Figure 1 - Recycling and Landfill Tonnage 2009-2019

Page 57

Agenda Item 12



2.1.1. Total waste volumes across Gloucestershire are forecast to increase by 
around 2.5% this year compared to 2017/18.
. 

2.1.2. The proportion of waste being recycled remains higher than that being 
landfilled, and the majority of the increased total waste tonnage is recycling 
(including food waste) rather than landfill.

2.1.3. Note that HRC wood waste is now being used as biomass for energy 
generation. This form of ‘recovery’ is currently included within the recycling 
statistics, and contributes around 1.75% to the recycling rate each year. An 
adjustment will be needed at year end to account for this change of outlet. 
DEFRA guidance on the application of the waste hierarchy states that energy 
recovery is the most suitable option for lower grade wood such as that 
collected at HRCs1. The recent reprocurement of wood collection and 
treatment services by GCC has also demonstrated that it is the more 
economic option.

2.2. Figure 2 shows the total household waste arisings across the county by waste type in 
kg per household (kg/hh) from 2009 to 2018.

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200
Landfilled Food Recycling Reuse

Figure 2 - Total Household Waste Arisings across the County by Waste 
Type - kg per household per year

Data for 2018/19 is provisional outturn data. For Cotswold the proportion of food waste has been estimated  

2.2.1. From 2009 to 2012 there was a year on year reduction in total waste and 
residual waste which was linked to the success of the service changes that 
took place at Cheltenham B.C, Cotswold D.C, Gloucester City, Forest of 
Dean and Tewkesbury B.C to support the Joint Waste Municipal Waste 
Strategy with the introduction of weekly food waste collections, a move from 
weekly to fortnightly residual waste collections and provision of improved 
kerbside recycling services. 
  

1 DEFRA (2011) “Applying the Waste Hierarchy: Evidence Summary”.

Page 58



2.2.2. Since 2012 residual waste has increased, which was in part due to the upturn 
in the economy and the absence of any further major collection service 
changes.

2.2.3. Positively in 2018/19 the kg/hh of residual waste has reduced to 456 kg/hh; 
an improvement on last years performance of 458 kg/hh.

2.2.4. Food waste capture has increased to 90 kg/hh.

2.3. Figure 3 shows the recycling arisings for each collection authority for the last 4 years.

Cheltenham BC Cotswold DC Forest of Dean 
DC

Gloucester City Stroud DC Tewkesbury BC
0

50

100

150

200

250

300
2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Figure 3 - Recycling Arisings by Authority kg/hh per year 2015/16 - 2018/19

2.3.1. Cheltenham B.C, Forest of Dean D.C, and Gloucester City have all 
demonstrated an increase their recycling performance during 2018/19.

2.3.2. Dry recycling in Cheltenham is further boosted by the operation of Swindon Rd 
Household Recycling Centre which contributes a significant proportion of the 
kg/hh (currently 29% by weight).

2.4 Figure 4 shows the food waste arisings by authority for the last 4 years.

Page 59



Cheltenham BC Cotswold DC Forest of Dean 
DC

Gloucester City Stroud DC Tewkesbury BC
0

20

40

60

80

100

120

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Figure 4 - Food Waste Arisings by Authority kg/hh per year 2015/16 - 2018/19

2.4.1 Whilst the overall food waste tonnage captured has increased in 2018/19, the 
results per household have varied between collection authorities.

2.5 Figure 5 shows the garden waste arisings for each collection authority for the last 4 
years. As Cotswold D.C mixes food and garden waste, the garden waste tonnage is 
an estimate. Garden waste tonnage is of course affected by the weather and growing 
conditions, and no guarantee can be given regarding future forecasts. Due to the dry 
weather in summer 2018 garden waste tonnage was lower than normal and this has 
impacted on the overall tonnage for the year.

Cheltenham BC Cotswold DC Forest of Dean 
DC

Gloucester City Stroud DC Tewkesbury BC
0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Figure 5 - Garden Waste Arisings by Authority kg/hh per year 2015/16 - 2018/19

3. Targets

Page 60



3.1. When the Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy (JMWMS) was signed in April 
2008 each local authority signed up to meeting the following targets which were 
aligned to the former national key performance indicators NI191 and NI192.

NI 192 – % of Household Waste Sent for Reuse, Recycling, Composting and AD
2009/10 40% Achieved
2014/15 50% 48% (52% achieved in 2016/17)
2019/20 60% (2020 target)
NI 191 – kg/hh of Residual Waste 
2009/10 659 kg/hh Achieved
2014/15 573 kg/hh Achieved
2019/20 479 kg/hh (2020 target)

3.2. Figure 6 shows the former NI192 actuals for the previous 4 years against these 
targets.

 

Chelte
nham

 BC

Cotsw
old DC

Fo
rest 

of D
ean

 DC

Glouce
ste

r C
ity

Str
oud DC

Tewke
sb

ury 
BC

HRCs

County
0.00%

10.00%

20.00%

30.00%

40.00%

50.00%

60.00%

70.00%

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Figure 6 - Reuse, Recycling, Composting and AD %

3.2.1. The overall county performance is forecast to reach 55.1% in 2018/19.

3.3.Figure 7 shows the former NI191 indicator – kg/hh of residual waste arisings by 
authority.

Page 61



Cheltenham 
BC

Cotswold 
DC

Forest of 
Dean DC

Gloucester 
City

Stroud DC Tewkesbury 
BC

HRCs County
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Figure 7 - Landfilled waste - kg/hh

3.3.1. The 2020 target is 479kg/hh of residual waste.  The overall county position 
for 2018/19 is forecast at 456kg/hh, already ahead of the 2020 target. The 
county position takes into account the waste collected at the kerbside and the 
waste at Household Recycling Centres.

3.3.2. All data is subject to validation by Defra prior to formal publishing later in the 
year. 2018/19 data is based on forecast performance, meaning that some 
change may occur before the end of the year.

Page 62


	Agenda
	6 Business Plan 2019-22
	7 Residual Waste Treatment and Waste Transfer Update
	8 Tipping Away Policy
	9 National Waste and Resources Strategy
	10 2018/21 ACTION PLAN UPDATE
	190212 App 1 Action plan update and App 2 High Risks (2)
	190212 App 1 Action plan update and App 2 High Risks

	11 Management Accounts Monitoring Report
	12 Quarter 3 performance monitoring

